CITY OF ST. MARYS, GEORGIA
418 Osborne Road
St. Marys, GA 31558

June 16, 2025

PUBLIC HEARING ALCOHOL
RIVER WALK PIZZERIA, LLC

5:45 P.M.

CITY COUNCIL MEETING
6:00 P.M.

AMENDED AGENDA (06/16/2025)

L. CALL TO ORDER

IL. INVOCATION: Councilmember Steven Conner

III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

IV. ROLL CALL QUORUM: YES  NO

V. APPROVAL OF MINUTES:
June 2, 2025 City Council Meeting Minutes
June 11, 2025 City Council Meeting Minutes FY2026 Budget Work Session

VI. PRESENTATIONS:

ROTARY CLUB OF CAMDEN COUNTY HELLO SUMMER FESTIVAL:
Mpr. Mitchell Blyler (President) & Mr. Jerre Brumbelow

PROCLAMATION JUNETEENTH: Mayor Gregory Lockhart

THIOKOL MEMORIAL PROJECT RECOGNITION: (Added) Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.
Ms. Jannie Everett (Founder)

COACH JEFF HERON: (Added) Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.

BOARD APPOINTMENT (NEW BOARD)
Tax Allocation District No. 3 Advisory Board (one seat)

BOARD APPOINTMENT (TERM EXPIRATIONS)
Camden County Board of Education Sex Education Instructional Review Committee

VII. REPORT OF AUTHORITIES, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES:
No Reports




VIII.

IX.

XI.
XII.

XIII.

XIV.

REPORT OF CITY MANAGER:

SET CONSENT AGENDA

GRANTING AUDIENCE TO THE PUBLIC:

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA

APPROVAL OF AGENDA

OLD BUSINESS:

A.

REZONING REQUEST FOR 118 SECOND STREET FROM R-1 SINGLE FAMILY
RESIDENTIAL) TO R-2 (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT): ............. TAB “A”
Jaime Stein (Community Development Director) David Lee McNabb requests
rezoning of Tax Parcel 135E 020A with conditions. Property is currently zoned R-1.

NEW BUSINESS:

A.

B.

D.

ADOPTION OF FY2026 BUDGET: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)... ... .... TAB “B”
Request approval to adopt FY 2026 Budget.

OAK GROVE CEMETERY ORDINANCE AMENDMENT CHAPTER 30 CEMETERIES
SECTION 30: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director) ......................c.cceuo...... TAB “C”
Request approval to amend ordinance.

OAK GROVE CEMETERY CREMATION PARK FEES: e .. TAB “D”
Marsha Klecan (Finance Director) Request Council approval of recommended prices
for lots in the Oak Grove Cemetery Cremation Park.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING BETWEEN CAMDEN COUNTY & CITY OF ST.
MARYS FOR CAMDEN COUNTY EMPLOYEE ONSITE HEALTH CLINIC FOR FY2026:
Donna Larsen (Human Resources Director)............ v . TAB “E”
Request approval of MOU to continue pamczpatmg in counly health clmzc

ESPLANADE BOULEVARD CONSTRUCTION PROJECT CONTRACT FOR CITY PORTION
OF ESPLANADE BLVD (VALLENCOURT CONSTRUCTION COMPANY):..........TAB “F”
Bobby Marr (Public Works Director) Request approval and award of contract to
Vallencourt Construction Company for roadway and improvement regarding City’s
portion of Esplanade Blvd. in the amount of $2,313,078.98.

NEW CI1TY HALL RENOVATION BID REJECTION AND RE-EVALUATION: ....TAB “G”
Bobby Marr (Public Works Director) Request approval to reject bids received for
New City Hall Renovation.

. FEDERAL GRANT FUNDING APPLICATIONS FOR ADDITIONAL CITY PERSONNEL IN

POLICE & FIRE DEPARTMENTS (COPS HIRING PROGRAM-U.S. DEPARTMENT OF
JUSTICE & SAFER GRANT-U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HOMELAND SECURITY/FEMA):
Krystle Cherry (Grant Manager)... .. TAB “H”
Request authorization to submit grant appllcatlons to SAFER & CHP

. RIVER WALK PI1ZZERIA, LLC NEW ALCOHOL LICENSE: ..........c.cc...........TAB “I”

Deborah Walker-Reed (City Clerk) Council consideration to approve a 2025 Beer,
Wine and Liquor License on premise consumption with food.



XV. ANNOUNCEMENT OF CALENDAR BY CITY CLERK:

XVI. COUNCIL MEMBER COMMENTS:
XVII. REPORT OF MAYOR:

XVIIIL. EXECUTIVE SESSION: Personnel
XIX. ADJOURNMENT:

This is a tentative agenda and is subject to change, please check with City Hall prior to the
Meeting for any revisions.




MINUTES
City Council Mtg. Minutes

June 2, 2025
Page 1
CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 2, 2025
6:00 p.m.
MINUTES

The Mayor and City Council for the City of St. Marys, Georgia met for its regular City Council
meeting on Monday, June 2, 2025 at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers at City Hall.

PRESENT WERE: Mayor Gregory Lockhart
Councilmember Steven Conner
Councilmember Chad Ingram
Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.
Councilmember Patricia Lynn Keene
Councilmember Jeremy Nascimento
Councilmember Allen F. Rassi, Jr.

CITY OFFICIALS PRESENT: Charlie Williams, Assistant City Manager
Steven G. Blackerby, City Attorney
Marsha Klecan, Finance Director
Margaret Mesmer, Assistant Finance Director
James Galloway, Police Chief
Bobby Marr, Public Works Director
Chris Amos, Public Works Engineer
Tom Lackner, Fire Chief
Alick Smith, Assistant Public Works Director
Todd Iverson, Assistant Police Chief

CALL TO ORDER:

Mayor Lockhart called the City Council Meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. Councilmember Keene
gave the invocation and Mayor Lockhart led the pledge of allegiance. Council roll call indicated
a quorum of Council members present in the meeting.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:

May 19, 2025 City Council Meeting Minutes (Public Hearing Proposed FY2026 Budget, Public
Hearing Alcohol ALDI, Inc., Regular meeting & Executive Session)

May 29, 2025 City Council Minutes

(Special Called Meeting, FY2026 Budget Work Session & Storm Water Enterprise Fund Work
Session)

Councilmember Conner made a motion for the following minutes: May 19, 2025 (Public Hearing
Proposed FY2026 Budget, Public Hearing Alcohol ALDI, Inc., Regular & Executive Session)
and May 29, 2025 (Special Called, FY2026 Budget Work Session & Storm Water Enterprise
Fund Work Session). Councilmember Ingram seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in
favor of the motion.

PRESENTATIONS:

CROOKED RIVER DRAINAGE STUDY: Mr. Ben Pierce
(Georgia Water & Environmental Services, LLC)




MINUTES

City Council Mtg. Minutes
June 2, 2025

Page 2

The Public Works Director stated Mr. Pierce previously worked for Glynn County, GA as the
Drainage & Traffic Engineer, now works for GWES, LLC and conducted the drainage
investigations for Crooked River Plantation Subdivision. Mr. Pierce spoke about the existing
condition deficiency study/evaluation conducted, findings, potential concept improvements
(phases) and report. City Council asked which projects were a priority, engineering needed,
immediate actions, if citizen yards are lower than road/drainage issue, outfall clean-out, culvert
& drainage in roads and ditch behind Winding Road. Mr. Pierce gave an overview.

MISSING IN ACTION AND PRISONER OF WAR FLAG (MIA/POW):

Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr.

Mr. Tom Boyler asked if the city would fly the Missing In Action and Prisoner of War Flag at
City Buildings and Council stated yes. Mr. Roger Rillo spoke about the following: Member of
local Veteran of Foreign Wars (VFW) with over 900 members, VFW event well attended with
most attendees to date, thanked Council for approving MIA/POW Flag and requested memorial.
Councilmember Jones spoke about ceremony, noted veterans who returned home from different
wars were not welcomed and stated Congressman Buddy Carter spoke at ceremony.

PROCLAMATION CITY COMMITMENT TO ZERO ROADWAY DEATHS: Mayor Gregory Lockhart
Mayor Lockhart read proclamation stating city’s commitment to Zero Roadway Death.

BOARD ANNOUNCEMENT (TERM EXPIRATION)
St. Marys Library Board (Andy Diffenderfer & Beth Zupan)
Mayor Lockhart announced openings on the St. Marys Library Board.

BOARD APPOINTMENT (NEW BOARD)
Tax Allocation District No. 3 Advisory Board (one seat)
Mayor Lockhart announced an opening on the Tax Allocation District No. 3 Advisory Board.

BOARD APPOINTMENT (TERM EXPIRATIONS)

1. Camden County Board of Education Sex Education Instructional Review Committee

2. St. Marys Library Board (Denese Proctor)

Mayor Lockhart announced openings on the Camden County Board of Education Sex Education
Instructional Review Committee.

St. Marys Library Board

Councilmember Rassi made a motion to appoint Ms. Angela Gerardi to the St. Marys Library
Board. Councilmember Keene seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the
motion.

REPORT OF AUTHORITIES, BOARDS, COMMISSIONS & COMMITTEES:

A. FINANCE REPORT’S REPORT: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)
The Finance Director presented tenth month Financial Reports for FY2025 and stated reports
are on a cash basis. Councilmember Keene inquired if city received money from the Federal
Emergency Management Agency regarding a storm and Mrs. Klecan stated no.

REPORT OF CITY MANAGER:

The Assistant City Manager spoke about the following: Bulk trash pick-up/media campaign, sink
hole on Highway 40, Cumberland Island National Seashore downtown parking, May National
Water Safety Month/St. Marys Aquatic Center swim lessons, storms (lighting strikes)/cameras,




MINUTES

City Council Mtg. Minutes
June 2, 2025

Page 3

Senior Center digital literary (new computers/lessons), Police Department (cases, citations &
arrests), Library event and hurricane season started June 1% (code red/website/social media).

SET CONSENT AGENDA (*)
City Council Set Consent Agenda as New Business Items A, C, D and E.

GRANTING AUDIENCE TO THE PUBLIC:

Alex Nelson, 500 Mclntosh Drive: Mr. Nelson noted support for both proclamation on Zero
Roadway Deaths and New Business Item E.

Larry White, 102 Sylvia’s Court: Mr. White spoke about the following: New Business Item A
potential parking hazards (diagonal), requested report from GWES, LLC drainage study be
placed on city website, and inquired about start date of Mickler Drive Sewer Line for Exit 1
Project (noted school dates and traffic).

Ethelbert Seals, 816 River Drove West: Mr. Seals spoke about the following: Requested GWES,
LLC drainage report on website/also show data on screen, St. Marys Aquatic Center needed,
VFW event well attended, supports city marina, need former mill site property update and noted
good lunches needed at senior center instead of school system meals.

Larry Newton, 311 Bartlett Street: Mr. Newton spoke about the following: Appointed to Storm
Water Task Force, residential property issues/drainage, ditches, noted background, storm water
fee ($5.00) and suggested Council move forward with plan.

Mayor Lockhart spoke about the following: Council Work Session on Storm Water Enterprise
Fund, second ditch crew hired, new equipment to assist with cleaning ditches and reviewing fees.

Roger Shaw, 30 Merrymount Court: Mr. Shaw thanked Council for having bushes cut back at
Colerain & Winding Roads.

Dave Schmitz, 112 New Hammock Circle: Mr. Schmitz spoke about the following: Ditches not
cleaned in Shadowlawn Subdivision since 1991, GADOT needs to create directional arrows at
intersection in front of Hardees, New Business Item A (Mayor Lockhart stated city unable to
make changes to state highway), noted other cities have larger recreation budget, storm water
fees, inquired if specific areas are exempt from storm water fees (Council stated no one exempt
including city & churches), correspondence from Service Line Warranty of America (SLWA)
and noted USAA does not cover these services, stated owner of Dodgers (who purchased
property downtown) should be contacted regarding donation to city projects like recreation.

Karen White, 609 Margaret Street: Mrs. White inquired about repair of tennis courts and
inquired why wonderful city personnel are being fired.

Christine Adamow, 901 Ann Street: Mrs. Adamow spoke about the following: Glad city is
discussing FY2026 budget, city operating budget has increased 20% over the last few years,
(misleading numbers/increased budget for new city hall), asset management needed, city staff at
marina fired, noted Aquatic Center needed however (city does not own property, mismanaged,&
/losing money), noted city has personnel issues/ making bad decisions/ city in transition,
negative trend in fiscal management and city management team not performing.




MINUTES

City Council Mtg. Minutes
June 2, 2025

Page 4

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA (*)

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve the consent agenda as New Business Items A,
C, D and E. Councilmember Conner seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of
the motion.

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:

Councilmember Jones made a motion to approve amended agenda. Councilmember Nascimento
seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.

OLD BUSINESS: No Items.

NEW BUSINESS:

A. RESOLUTION TO REMOVE & REDESIGNATE SECTION OF STATE ROUTE 40 FROM STATE
HIGHWAY SYSTEM (GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION) (*):
Bobby Marr (Public Works Director) Request approval and authorization for Mayor
Gregory Lockhart to sign resolution to remove Osborne Street from Gallop Street to Church
Street from state highway system and redesignate as a local road.

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve Resolution removing section of State
Route 40 from State Highway System (Osborne Street from Gallop Street to Church Street)
and redesignate as local road. Councilmember Conner seconded the motion. Voting was
unanimous in favor of the motion.

B. ADOPTION OF FY 2026 BUDGET ORDINANCE: Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)
Request approval of adoption of FY 2026 Budget.

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve adoption of the FY2026 Budget
Ordinance. Councilmember Conner seconded the motion. Councilmember Keene moved for
discussion and stated she appreciates hard work and noted why she opposes budget ($3.5
million revenue for real estate should be in forecast, $6 million in budget for new city hall
however told it would be $1.8 million a few years ago however bids received higher than
anticipated at $10 million, noted city does not have a Capital Improvement Plan and unable
in good conscious to vote in favor). Councilmember Jones stated he agrees and noted city
should not speculate on money not received for potential real estate sale.

Councilmember Rassi stated in favor of new city hall but noted important projects must be
addressed like sidewalks, etc. which come first. Councilmember Ingram noted money needs
to be earmarked for building, stated expending $14,000 monthly, noted city needs to leave
current building to move into new one and noted once Council agrees, staff can move.
Councilmember Nascimento noted $10 million bid received which did not include new roof,
stated revisions needed to new city hall plan (reducing office spaces, etc.) for additional cuts,
want to be prudent/fiscally responsible and sated hurricane season coming. Councilmember
Conner stated if building not fiscally feasible then city unable to move forward. Mayor
Lockhart spoke about the following: Budget needed for new City Hall renovation, city unable
to move forward with current costs (cost saving measures needed), need expense of one city
hall being, Council respectful of tax dollars and noted other city properties like waterfront,
etc. don’t generate money however contribute to quality of life. Voting was recorded as
follows:



MINUTES
City Council Mtg. Minutes

June 2, 2025

Page 5
FOR OPPOSED
Councilmembers Ingram Councilmember Jones, Keene, Nascimento and Rassi
ABSTAINED

Councilmember Conner

The motion did not pass. The Finance Director stated the following: City does have to have
an approved budget in place before July 1, 2025 which is the first day of FY2026, if not we
cannot operate on July 1%, Mrs. Klecan stated it is up to Council how they want to proceed
with this as she would like to have two weeks before implementation on July 1% because they
have to manually put the whole budget in for the city. The Finance Director stated she
wanted Council to be aware of the facts as the city will not open on July 1%,

Councilmember Rassi suggested a Council Work Session on June 16, 2025. Council
discussed dates. Councilmember Rassi stated okay with everything in budget except new
city hall noting Council can amend. The Finance Director noted if you pass the budget as
presented, it does not mean that is what you spend. Council discussed cuts and noted other
concerns with budget. The City Attorney noted the budget needs to be clearly stated in
writing and would not suggest amending the budget orally.

C. TIME CLOCK PLUS MULTIYEAR CONTRACT (*): Marsha Klecan (Finance Director)
Request approval and authorization for Mayor Gregory Lockhart to sign five-year contract
for City Personnel time tracking software.

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve the contract with Time Clock Plus.
Councilmember Conner seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.

D. ST MARYS POLICE DEPARTMENT AXON BODY CAMERA DOCKING STATION LEASE
AGREEMENT (*): James Galloway (Police Chief) Request approval and authorization for
Mayor Gregory Lockhart to sign 41-month lease agreement for body camera docking station.

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve lease agreement with Axon Enterprises,
Inc. Councilmember Conner seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the
motion.

E. SAFE STREETS AND ROADS FOR ALL GRANT APPLICATION U.S. DEPARTMENT OF
TRANSPORTATION (PLANNING & DEMONSTRATION FUNDS) (¥):
Krystle Cherry (Grants Manager) Request approval, authorization to submit grant and
proclamation.

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to approve Safe Streets and Road for All grant
application regarding Planning & Demonstration Funds. Councilmember Conner seconded
the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.

F. 3%” QUARTER TOWN HALL & DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS UPDATE:
Deborah Walker-Reed (City Clerk) To discuss 3" Quarter meetings scheduled for July 3,
2025 at 5:00 p.m. & 6:00 p.m.

Councilmember Ingram made a motion to reschedule the 3™ Quarter Town Hall &
Development Progress Update to Thursday, July 10, 2025 at 5:00 p.m. and 6:00 p.m.
Councilmember Keene seconded the motion. Voting was unanimous in favor of the motion.



MINUTES

City Council Mtg. Minutes
June 2, 2025

Page 6

A.

B.

C.

ANNOUCMENT OF CALENDAR BY CITY CLERK: City Clerk
The City Clerk announced upcoming meetings up to June 16, 2025.

COUNCIL COMMENTS:

Councilmember Rassi noted the St. Marys Kiwanis meeting with city regarding the
Independence Day Festival and stated anyone who would like to donate for fireworks display
is welcome. Councilmember Ingram announced events on Saturday with the historic fishing
tournament and Hello Summer Festival. Councilmember Conner thanked audience for
attending, noted public and Council wants what is best for city, Council makes tough
decisions, thanked everyone for attending

REPORT OF MAYOR:
Mayor Lockhart announced craft beer tasting and Hello Summer Festival events.

EXECUTIVE SESSION: No Executive Session.

ADJOURNMENT:

Councilmember Rassi made a motion for adjournment. Councilmember Conner seconded the
motion. Voting was unanimously in favor of the motion. Mayor Lockhart declared the meeting
adjourned at 7:45 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Deborah Walker-Reed, City Clerk



MINUTES
City Council FY2026 Budget Work Session
June 11, 2025

CITY OF ST. MARYS, GEORGIA
CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION
June 11, 2025
6:00 p.m.

The Mayor and Council for the City of St. Marys, Georgia held a Work Session on the Proposed
FY2026 Budget on Wednesday, June 11, 2025, at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers at City Hall.

TOPIC: PROPOSED FY2026 BUDGET

PRESENT WERE:
Mayor Gregory Lockhart and Councilmembers Steven Conner, Chad Ingram, Artie Jones, Jr.,
Patricia Keene, and Allen F. Rassi, Jr.

ABSENT WERE: Councilmember Jeremy Nascimento

CITY OFFICIALS PRESENT:

Robert Horton, Jr., City Manager; Charlie Williams, Assistant City Manager; Marsha Klecan,
Finance Director; Margaret Mesmer, Assistant Finance Director; Jaime Stein, Community
Development Director; Angela Wigger, Tourism Director; James Galloway, Police Chief; Tom
Lackner, Fire Chief; Bobby Marr, Public Works Director; Donna Larsen, Human Resources
Director; Candace Pullum, Main Street Manager; Cassandra Jewel, Accountant; Kim Dockery,
Accountant; Judy Heim, Accounts Payable; and Alick Smith, Assistant Public Works Director.

Mayor Lockhart opened Work Session at 6:00 p.m.

FY2026 BUDGET

Mayor Lockhart gave an overview and stated the following: Council sent email this morning
with budget revisions / noted hard copies on dais, noted budget revision was removal of $3.5
million from expenditure and revenue (potential real estate transaction and noted it is not this
building) and asked if Council had any concerns. Councilmember Keene spoke about the
following: Inquired if $3.5 million is removed why $2.5 million still in budget, noted American
Rescue Plan Act Funding and Fund Equity regarding new City Hall, mentioned budget
amendment might be needed for new City Hall construction, and recommendation is a cleaner
way in proposed budget.

The City Manager noted funds left and mentioned new roof needed for new City Hall.
Councilmember Keene mentioned options noted from City Attorneys regarding budget extension
and removing both budget lines items for new City Hall (revenue/expenditures). Mayor
Lockhart gave an overview and Councilmember Ingram noted a Council Work Session is needed
for new City Hall. The City Manager requested clarification noting removal of $2.5 million from
Fund Equity and Governmental Buildings leaving $494,939. Mayor Lockhart asked if audience
would like to comment and no one spoke.

ADJOURNMENT:
Mayor Lockhart declared Work Session closed at 6:11 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Deborah Walker-Reed, City Clerk



G roclamation
L@g} Hhe %@ﬁ of the %‘a‘f o . %W gewym

Suncteonth Nedional Indapendonco Digy”

WHEREAS, On September 22, 1862, President Abraham Lincoln issued the Emancipation
Proclamation abolishing slavery in the United States: and

WHEREAS, On June 19, 1865, Texas received word by Union General Gordon Granger of
the emancipation of slaves; and

WHEREAS, June 19™ has since become known as Freedom Day and the official day of
recognition for Juneteenth; and

WHEREAS, Juneteenth will be celebrated in various observances throughout the U.S.,
Camden County and City of St. Marys; and

WHEREAS, City Council designated June 19 a City holiday which will be recognized on
June 19, 2025; and

WHEREAS, All City buildings will be closed in observance of Juneteenth.

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Gregory Lockhart, Mayor, and City Council Members of St. Marys
recognize Juneteenth National Independence Day and encourage all citizens to join in the
observance of this day.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this 16™ day of June in the year of our
Lord two thousand and twenty-five.

CITY OF ST. MARY, GEORGIA

By:
Gregory Lockhart, Mayor
Attest:
Deborah Walker-Reed, City Clerk
Councilmember Steven Conner - Councilmember John Chadwick Ingram
Councilmember Artie Jones, Jr. - Councilmember Patricia Lynee Keene

Councilmember J eremy Nascimento Councilmember Allen F. Rassi, Jr.







ST MARYS CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 16, 2025

TITLE: REZONING OF PARCEL 135E 020A FROM R-1 (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL) TO
R-2 (SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT).

PURPOSE: This is a request for Council to review and approve a rezoning of parcel 135E 020A.

The property is currently zoned R-1 (Single Family Residential). Common location known as 118
Second Street.

The subject parcel is shown on: “Rezone Site Plan, St. Marys Georgia, Prepared for 118 N 2™
STREET LLC.” 1 Sheet prepared Cumberland Surveyor Engineering dated 6/10/2024

RECOMMENDATION: The Planning Commission at its April 8, 2025, meeting, gave
conditional approval for this Rezoning application.

HISTORY/ANALYSIS:

This application, put forward by Mr. David McNabb, is for a Rezoning from R-1 of Tax Parcel
ID 135E 020A. All surrounding uses are currently zoned R-1.

The lot is currently developed with residential structures. The applicant is not requesting a
proposed use for the property. However, under the R-2 use the property has permissible rights to
develop as single-family structure, Two-Family duplex, three-family dwelling, Boarding houses
and accessory uses and structures. The owner could apply for a special use permit for either a
nursing home or any special use permitted in the R-1 Single -Family Residential District.

At the Council’s May 5™ meeting, Mr. McNabb requested that Council delay their final approval.
After discussion with Mr. McNabb, he is ready to proceed and as such the proposal is back before
Council as old business.

The rezoning application is accompanied by a minor subdivision/final plat to separate the lot into
two lots as shown on the final plat as lots 3A and 3B. The rezoning from R-1 to R-2 will only
apply to the proposed lot 3B.

Staff recommends approval of the rezoning with the following conditions:

1. Any future development will adhere to the City of St Marys’ Zoning Ordinance.
2. The applicant will need to revise the final plat to show the following items
Building line setbacks on the plat
Clerk of courts recording block.
Mayor/mayor pro tempore's signature block:
Revised zoning development standards are shown on plat.

Community Development Department Director: Jaime Stein, AICP

City Manager:




City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

Rezoning Application

SectionA  Applicant information

Applicant Name"’PA}v'Q Lee M Nebs

Applicant Type !t Property Owner Contractor Authorized Agent Other
Mailing Address /70%  Peornd ;oe,.l.a/
rd
City sQ,n{' MBT)¢ State (, £ zp 3’5';5’

Phone Number A {2 40 G ~ !-u’—Q 97
Email Address V) Cr] ﬂbb"pwlAi ® Lnpic T

SectionB Property Information
Property Address _ p| § e cond  Gleee ¥

Tax Parcel #
Property Size { Acres
Current Zoning 14~ | Proposed Zoning V- - &~
Purpose

Died  and Rezont

Section C
I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that | am authorized to make this application and that the information contained
herein is true and accurate.

Executed on ﬂgr;ﬁ 10, A 0% in o o {city, state).

Signature of Authorized Officer or Agent W -

/ Sl
Printed Name and Title of Authorized Officer or Agent—_pﬁlfl Z e meddp 4
T " ‘“Illlllﬂu,""
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME @‘;’(;,GP* BOYQP"'.,,‘
On this 2 day of /Vl arr.L ’ A2 S §é"‘2{,\c’°‘t\ﬂ\l :0/)@. '%'%

£ [ NTw, gimi
M_ﬁd‘m_— to ', usLic i 3
Notary Public Signature T ) Yo d

X
"v% '-,.0/1 ot ’ (}‘-v
My Commission Expires: 9 « & . 202% ‘"'?’C'OU .._,.€€°$§¢
s, W

REZ.2020.V2



90 City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
{912) 510-4032

Subdivision Application

Section A Applicant Information
Applicant Name iPﬁu'(d L-f& men A b é
Applicant Type /l_/ Property Owner _  Contractor __ Authorized Agent _ Other
Mailing Address /722 Do n £ Pd des”
City %,n-f— Mpr/jj State (» A zp 2rsS g
Phone Number & [~ Hog—19877

Email Address MCNBYLY Dauvit 1 £ lomaoir L0 n
Section B Property information

Property Owner 1)4‘;@ Lee MenaLh
Property Address | )& 2 it 5#’9‘3*

Tax Parcel #

Neighbarhood

Property Size ! Acres

Zoning
Section C  Subdivision Information

Application Type Minor Subdivision X Major Subdivision Reverse Subdivision

If Major Subdivision Sketch Plan Preliminary Plat Final Plat
Impraovements Guarantee
If Final Plat Complete to be Posted
Number of
Proposed Lots

Section D

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that | am authorized to make this application and that the inférmation contained
herein is true and accurate.

Signature of Authorized Officer or Agem Mcq
e T | 7

5UB.2020.V1



CENERAL NOTES:

1. UNDBSTRUCTED PORTIONS OF THE SITE WERE

*+ SURVEYED USING DUAL FREQUENCY. REAL TIME

T KINEMATIC GPS METHODS WITH A RELATIVE
POSITIONAL ACCURACY < £0.07°+50 PPM.

2. THIS MAP OR PLAT HAS BEEN CALCULATED FOR

CLOSURE AND IS FOUND YO BE ACCURATE WITHIN

ONE FUOT IN 3,164,196 FEET,

THIS SURVEY WAS PERFDRMED USING A SOKKIA

ROBDTYC TOTAL STATION AND CARLSON BRx7 BASE

TH/S SURVEV WAS PERFORMED WITHOUT BENEFIT OF

A TITLE ABSTRACT.

NO ATTEMPT WAS MADE TO DETERMINE WETLANDS OR

OTHER ENVIRONMENTAL ISSUES, IF ANY, THAT MAY

AFFECT THE Sl PROPER

6. THERE MAY EXIST ADDITIONAL EASEMENTS NOT
SHOWN HEREON.

7. ALL IMPROVEMENTS NOT SHOWN.

8. R—1 ZOMING REQUIREMENTS

(1) Minimum Iot oree: 10,000 squore feet:

(2) Minimum lot width ot building line: 75 feet;

(3} Minimum front yard salback from streal: 25 feet;

(4} Minimum side yord, setbock from street: 25 fesl:
sotback from other property fine: 15 fast;

(s) Mmrmum reor yard, selback from stmr 25 fost;

ethack From other property line: 15 fes
() Mammum percentage of lot coverage: JD percent;
(7) Maximum building height: 35 feel

2N

PG:53, (MMDEN COUNTY RECORDS
2 DB:2241 P6357 CAMDEN COUNTY RECORDS

ELOOD _NOTE:

THIS PROPERTY IS SHOWN TO LIE IN FLOOD HAZARD
X" (UNSHADED) QN FLOOD INSURANCE RATE MAP No.
13039004146, DATED DECEMBER, 21 2017.

ABPROVAL CERTIFICALS.
THS MNOR PLAT ADIUSTUENT HAS BEEN REVIEWED AND
APPROVED SUBJECT TO SECTION B6—

SUBDMIDER HAS COMPUED WITH THE SUBDIVISION REQUIREMENTS
RELATVE TO THE GUARANTEE OF ALL IMPROVEMENTS REQUIRED BY
THE CITY OF ST. MARYS SUBDMSION REGULATIONS.

DATED

Bar:
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR

OFNER'S CERTIFICATE:
STATE OF GEORGIA, COUNTY OF CAMDEN
THE OKNER OF THE LAND SHOWN ON THIS DLAT AND WHOSE NAVE

SUBDIMISION OF THE LAND SHOWN HEREGON 8Y AN ACTUAL SURVEY,
AND DDES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY DEDICATE T7Q THE USE OF THE
PUBLIC ALL ROADS AND EASEMENTS (IF ANY) FOR THE PURPOSES
THAT THEY ARE (ABELED.

2/ NAME: DATE:
DAVID MchABB,

1705 POINT PETER ROAD

ST MARYS, GA 31558

0.574 AGRE
0.344 ACRE

N/F
LELAND P. CHRISTOPHERSON &
MYRNA R, CHRISTOPHERSON

MINOR SUBDIVISION SURVEY FOR:

118 N 2nd STREET LLC

GAINS H. DAVIS STATE PARK SUBDIVISION,
TAX PARCEL No. 135E 0204,

SUBJECT PROPERTY CURRENTLY ZONED:

0B:865 P(-"7
S 1,2 586
TP. 135 021
s 'w FOR 200.15' 10 jor
N CORNER OF LOT 4 (or) NB8'S2'42E  200.00 | PS5
R - - = o
o g
a1 “
' 0
| a-p DIRT <
EXISTING LOT 31 DRIVE .
3 BUILDING 8. 0.344 ACRE S
3e e R =
og o &
g3 &
.| i
18 1 104.5 S
< e o
8
N amwponen [
SEPTIC TANK
T w
N/F 42" 200.00 (<X}
THOMAS R. COLLER s Neg'52'42’E :
& N I
TENA D. GOLLIER 3 N §"
DB:336 FG:225 . a
EAST 1/2 OF LOT 4 237 By
T.P. 135 019 % 5
EXISTIVG Z
v
o] BUILDING 8 E b
o = =3
b { o
S k4 LOT 3-A N
N = 0,574 ACRE >
3 s '"'
8
Bl 2
2 3
U DIRT
ORVE
& &
~ S 4" sEweR P — 0F —
LATERAL " ur——m’———ﬂ'—““”‘w_"".—_“—w_
OVERHEAD POWER M__‘“,_‘,,__m&m—‘w——‘“'—“"‘ ps |
P — DP — 0P — P — OF — 0P — (it W — OP[ ‘ . g
- T w5 % wmm METER $88°52'42°W  200.00 aarcn T
x2) BASIN %
| o
% e
| SECOND STREET
% 50" R/W (ASPHALT) \
! i
CERTITICATION:
45 REQUIRED §Y SUBSECTION (0) OF Q.C.GA SECTION 15-G-7, THIS PLAT HAS BEEN
BY AL APPLICABLE LOCAL JURISDICTIONS FOR
RECORDING AS' EVDENCZD B¢ AFPROVAL CLRMACATES, STAMPS, OR
HEREDN. SUCH APPROVALS OR AFFIRMATIONS SHOULD BE CONFIRMED WITH THE APPROPRIATE
GOVERNMENTAL BODIES BY ANY PURCHASER OF USER OF THIS PLAT AS T0 INTENDED USE OF ANY
PARCEL. FURTHERMORE, THE UNDERSIGNED LAND SURVEYOR CERTIFIES THAT THIS PLAT COMPLIES GRAPHIC SCALE
WITH THE MINMUM TECHNICAL STANDARDS FOR PROPERTY SURVEYS N GEORGW AS SET FORTH
IN_THE RULES AND REGULATIONS OF THE GEORGIA BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR PROFESSIONAL
ENGINEERS AND LAND SURVEYORS AND AS SET FORTH IN O.C.GA. SECTION 15-6-67. » H % w i

¥ [T o

03/13/2025

LOT 3, BLOCK 10 OF

CITY OF ST MARYS,
zoth G.M.D,
CAMDEN COUNTY,
GEORGIA

R

m._mﬂ;m—

LECEND:

IPF IRON PIN FOUND
(1/2" PIPE UNLESS NOTED

1S IRON PIN SET

(1/2° REBAR)

R/W  RIGHT OF WAY

CMF  CONCRETE MONUMENT FOUND

CLF  CHAIN LINK FENCE

CONC. CONCRETE

POB  POINT OF BEGINNING

POC  POINT OF COMMENCEMENT

N/F NOW OR FORMERLY

08 DEED BOOK

P8 PLAT BOOK

PC PLAT CABINET

PO PLAT DRAWER

AGE
BL SE TBACK LINE

TOTAL
TAX PARCEL

00 CAMDEN AVIMIE
GA 319
m:,l 576-8854 LS. 882

0_per_21196.§



S

100k an{375
FILED 1N OFFELE
YorZd 0632 m
:‘;‘:sﬂ l:te:rg?ys :;:'l:p:red at the cllent’s request without the benefit of a title searcﬁ%h%%ﬁr‘ Githis Decd
CLERK GF SUPERIOR COURT
Return to: CEMDEN COLNTY
Bistiop Law Firm
465 Sea Island Road
St Simons Island, Georgia 31522
STATE OF GEORGIA Parcel No. 135E 020A
COUNTY OF CAMDEN
PT-41 D020-2023-00843

W, TY D OF GIFT
THIS CONVEYANCE, made and entered into on this thed8" day of February, 2023, by and
between David L. McNabb, a resident of the Camden County, Georgia, hereinafter referred to as
"Grantor,” and 118 N 2™ Street, LLC, a Georgin limited fiability company hereinafter referred to as
"Grantee" (the words "Gramtor” and "Grantee” to include its respective successors and assigns where the
context requires or permits).
' WITNESSETH:

That Grentor, for and in consideration of the fove, respect and admiration and other good and
valuable consideration in hand paid at or before the sealing and delivery of these presents, the receipt of which
whereof is hereby acknowledged, have granted, bargained, sold, aliened, conveyed and confirmed, and by
these presents do hereby grant, bargain, sell alien and convey unto Grantee all of Grantor’s interests in and

to the following described real property, to-wit:

All that lot, tract or paree! of land lying and being in the City of St. Mary’s, 29" G.M.
District, Camden County, Georgia, more particularly described as follows:

Yot 3, Block 10 of Gains H, Davis State Park Rozd Subdivision, as more fully and
accurately shown and described on that certain plat of survey by R. W, Shefficld, Georgia
Registered Land Surveyor No. 396, dated May 18, 1956, recorded in Plat Cabinet No. 3, File
No. 32-A, of the public records of Camden Connty, Georgia, formerly recorded in Plat
Boolk 2, Page 53, aforesaid records.

Property Address: 118 N 2™ Street, St. Mary’s, Georgia

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD seid bargained prermises, together with all and singular the rights,

members and appurtenances thereof, to the same being, belonging or in anywise appertaining to the only



Bre2241 PR35

proper s, benefit and behalf of Grantee in fes simple.

AND THE SAID GRANTOR will warrant and forever defend unto the, said Grantee, as
hereinabove provided, the right and title to the property hereby conveyed against the lawful claims of all
persons chaiming by, through or under said Grantor or ell persons whomsoever, and said Grantor will
warrant aud forever defend the same by virtue of these presents.

IN WITNESS WHEREOY, the said Grantor has signed, sealed and delivered these presenis on

this the day and year first above written.

Signed, sealed aud delivered .
in the presence of: L
Dia O Oc oo T A LMy
(Unofficlal Wi d L) McNabb /
. wmmmm"
i " f\@ %\%?'E. ffe;:"l‘%
Notary Public * oL (OTARY 'ﬁa
My Wmmissiﬂ!l expi:’cﬁ.‘ !—!-g! n 5 Ee ‘p' wmﬁ v'. !i
[NOTARY SEAL] £71 qgomOlr 1§
oA e
C:\‘~m9;; §
o IMDEN GO



A,.Q?@

[N

T 20718 an D64

DACE 004712

FILED IN OFFICE

/2072018 02:51 M

1929 PG:BI-8
JOV LYMN

. TURMER
39 Prepared By/Retur OLERK (F SIPERIOR CORT
007 Avtiow Drive CANDER COUNTY
St Merys, Georgia 31558
File No. 180886
REAL ESTATE TRANSFER TAX
PAID: $93.00
PT-61 020-2018-061669
_ LIMITED WARRANTY DEED
STATE OF GEORGIA
COUNTY OF CAMDEN
THIS INDENTURE, made the {3t day of\JULM two thousand

sighteen, by and between

MARY SQUIRES f/k/a MARY F. NORRIS
as party or parties of the first part, hereinafter called Grantor(s}, and

DAVID L. MCNABB

@8 party or parties of the second pert, hereinefter called Grantee(s) (words "Grantor” and
"QGrantee” to include their respective heirs, successors and essigne where the context
redquires or permits), .

WITNE SSETH: That said Grantot(s], for and in consideration of the sum of
Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and valuable consideration in hand peid at and
before the sealing and delivery of these presents, the receipt and sufficiency whereof is
hereby acknowledged, has granted, bargained and sold, conveyed and transferred and by
these presents does hereby grant, bargain and sell, convey, transfer and set over unto
said party of the second part, his/her heirs and assigns.

All that lot, tract or parcel of land lying and being in the City of St. Mgrys, 29th G.M. District,
Camden Conuty, Gecrgia, more particolarly deseribed as follows:

Lot 3, Block 10 of Gains H. Davis State Park Road Subdivision, a5 more fully and accurately
shown angd described on that certain pist of smvey by R. W. Sheffield, Georgiu Registered Land
Surveyor No. 396, dated May 18, 1956, recorded in Plat Cabinet No. 3, File No. 32-4, of the public
records of Camden County, Georgia, formerly recorded in Plat Book 2, Page 53, aforesaid records.

SUBJECT TO: Conditions, restrictions, limitations, easements, zoning ordinances
of record, if any, and taxes for 2018 and subsequent yeare.

TO HAVE AND HOLD the said tract or parcel of land, with all and singular the
rights, members and appurtenances thereof, to the same being, belonging, or in anywise
appertaining, to the only proper use, henefit and behoof of the said Grantee(s) forever in
FYEE SIMFLE.

LIMITED WARRANTY DEED
PAGE 1 OF 2




BK:1929 PG:834

"AND THE BAID Grantor(s) will warrant and forever defend the right-and title to the
abave described property unto the said Grantee against the claims of all persons claiming
by, through and under the Grautor, but not further or otherwise.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Grantor(s) has/ have eigned and sealed this deed, the day
and year first above written,

Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of

/VM%V\M Wﬁuf’lﬂﬁyu)\ Pl

Witriess MARY fik/a
MARY F./NORRIS

s
S A A
Notary Public

My Commission Expires: 7/5/A !

LIMITED WARRANTY DEED
PAGE 2 OF 2

i s At Aot P 1 o+



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

Rezoning

Applicant David McNabb
Address 1703 Point Peter
Location 135E 020A
Zoning R-1
Request David McNabb is requesting to rezone parcel 135E 020A from R-1to R-2 .

Surrounding Land Uses

North R-1

East R-1 -
South R-1
West R-1

Shown on:
“Map to show 118N 2" Street Lot 3 Block 10 of Gains H. Davis State Park Subdivision Tax Parcel No 135E 020A City
of St Marys, 29t G.M.D Camden County, GA

“Rezone Site Plan, St. Marys Georgia, Prepared for 118 N 2" STREET LLC.” 1 Sheet prepared Cumberland Surveyor
Engineering dated 6/10/2024

Considerations and History

This application is for a Rezoning from R-1to R-2 —tax Parcel 1D 135E 020A both lots are developed with
residential structures. Currently the applicant is not requesting proposed use for the property. Under the R-2 use
the property has permissible rights to develop as single-family structure, Two-Family duplex, three-family
dwelling, Boarding houses and accessory uses and structures. The owner could apply for a special use permit for
either a nursing home or any special use permitted in the R-1 Single -Family Residential District.

According to Table 3.3.1 of the Camden County Joint Comprehensive Plan, states the St Mary's Character area of
the subject lot is in the proposed Inland Residential location. This character area is situated between SR 40, St
Marys Road, Dark Entry Creek, and Charlie Smily SR Hwy and primarily consists of single family residential
neighborhoods consistent with mare recent development patterns found in the Marshside Residential area but
without ready access to open water.

The Vision of the Inland Residential —this area has the potential to be built out further to provide young families
with small to medium sized home. Redevelopment and infill development should be consistent with existing
development and maintain the grid street patter and sidewalk network, where appropriate. Neighborhood-scale
commercial and civic uses are appropriate with this area to provide residents better access to services and retail.
Additionally, focus should given to connecting this are to the rest of the St. Marys non automotive transportation
network and providing the sizable youth population more recreational opportunities outside of school. This would
entail the construction of new multi use paths and parks for walking bicycling and golf cart access.

Future Zoning Considerations: R-1 Single Family Residential District

McNabb — Rezoning Page 1
Parcel 135E 020A



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 OsborneStreet
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

R-2 Low- Density Multifamily Residential District
C-2 Highway Commercial District.

Ordinance Requirements for Rezoning

Per Section 110-185.- Public Hearings, Public Hearing Procedures, and Rezoning Standards, Subsection (d) Zoning
Amendment Criteria — The following will be used to determine if a rezoning is appropriate:

TABLE 1
Staff Comment

Rezoning Criteria

The zoning request is a logical extension of the
zoning boundary, due to the close vicinity of
commercial properties. The requested use is for R-
2 which is a low density residential that allows for
multi family and well as boarding houses.

The zoning request should be a logical extension
of a zoning boundary which would improve the
pattern of uses in the general area.

The request to rezoning this property to R-2 is not
illogical extension of a zone boundary. The vision
and goals for this area of the city is to encourage
redevelopment and infill development.

The request should not be an illogical extension
of a zone boundary which would intrude a
damaging salient of a commercial, industrial, or
high-density apartment use into a stable
neighborhood of welli-maintained single-family
homes, and would be likely to lead to
neighborhood deterioration, the spread of
blight, and requests for additional zoning of a
similar nature which would expand the problem.

The reguest will not result in spot zoning since it is

supporting the future vision of the city for this area.

The request should not result in spot zoning or
generally be unrelated to either existing zoning
or the pattern of development of the area.

The rezoning of this property to R-2 should not
create traffic which would traverse established
single family neighborhoods on minor streets. If the
property owner developed this property in the
future to include multi family they would need to
develop according to the R-2 development
standards.

The request should not create traffic which
would traverse established single-family
neighborhoods on minor streets, leading to
congestion, noise and traffic hazards.

The zoning request could will conform to the
general expectations for population growth and
distribution

The request should conform to the general
expectations for population growth and
distribution.

The future character of this area, according to the
St Marys Character Area in the Joint Camden Couty
Comprehensive Plan 2023-2027, is for inland
Residential, one of the zoning categories that will
satisfy this vision is R-2.

The request should not limit options for the
acquisition of future planned public facility sites,
roads, open space, etc.

McNabb — Rezoning
Parcel 135E 020A

Page 2



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
{912) 510-4032

This request should not result in major changes
in existing levels of public service, and/or fiscal
stability.

The rezoning of this property is supported by the
future visioning plan contained in the Camden
County Comprehensive Plan.

This request should not achieve short term
goals at the expense of long-term, development
goals.

This will not be a concern for the surrounding
residential housing development.

This request should not result in changes to
market values and/or tax rates of nearby
properties.

The Joint Camden County Comprehensive Plan
Update (2023 — 2027) identifies an opportunity
area for expansion of developing residential, that is

The request should conform to policies and
recommendations contained in the St.
Marys/Camden County Comprehensive Plan.

consistent to what has been developed in the
surrounding properties.

A negative finding on one or more of these criteria shall not preclude approval of a rezoning.

Sec. 110-63. R-2, Single-Family Residential District.

District intent. This residential district is created to provide low density multifamily residential dwellings,
primarily in the form of two and three dwelling unit structures. Single-family and other uses allowed in the R-
1 District are also permitted. Persons residing in this district are entitled to protection from other types of
uses which are detrimental to the residential characteristics of the district. The regulations which apply to

this district are designed to encourage the formation and continuance of a stable, healthy living environment
for its residents.

(a) Uses permitted. Property and buildings in an R-2, Low Density Multifamily Residential District shall be
used for the following purposes:

(1) Any use permitted in the R-1, Single-Family Residential District (see subsection 110-62(a)) except that
single-family residences are not required to meet the standard listed in subsection 110-62(d)(5);

(2) Two-family dwellings (duplex);

(3) Three-family dwellings (triplex);

(4) Boardinghouses (not to exceed four units);
(5) Accessory uses and structures.

(b) Special permit uses. The following uses may be permitted in accordance with provisions contained in
section 110-145, and if additional conditions which may be required are met:

McNabb — Rezoning
Parcel 135E 020A

Page 3



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

(1) Any special use permitted in the R-1, Single-Family Residential District {see subsection 110-62(b));
(2) Nursing homes.

(c) Area regulations. Unless otherwise specified in this chapter, uses permitted in R-2, Low Density
Multifamily Residential Districts shall conform to the following requirements:

(1) Minimum lot areas:
a. Single-family dwellings: 10,000 square feet;

b. Two- and three-family dwellings: 10,000 square feet for the first two units, 4,000 square feet for each
additional unit;

c. Boardinghouses: 10,000 square feet for the first three units plus 4,000 square feet for each additional unit.
(2) Minimum lot width at building line: 70 feet;

(3) Minimum front yard setback from street: 25 feet;

(4) Minimum side yard, setback from street: 25 feet; setback from other property line: Ten feet;

(5) Minimum rear yard, set back from street: 25 feet; setback from other property line: 15 feet;

(6) Maximum percentage of lot coverage: 35 percent;

(7) Maximum building height: 35 feet;

(8) Minimum dwelling unit size (heated and cooled area):

a. Single-family dwellings: 600 square feet;

b. Two- and three-family dwellings: 600 square feet per unit;

¢. Boardinghouses: none.

Discussion and Final Recommendation

The zoning request is defined by Sec. 110-63. R-2, Single-Family Residential District. in the City of St Marys
ordinance and has been assessed by the City's zoning amendment criteria, as detailed in Table 1 above.

McNabb — Rezoning Page 4
Parcel 135E 020A



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

After staff reviewed the City of St. Marys future vision for the city and the submitted plat the staff recommends
approval with the following revisions.

The applicant will need to revise the final plat to show the following items

Building line setbacks on the plat

Clerk of courts recording block.

Mayor/mayor pro tempore's signature block:

Revised zoning development standards are shown on plat.

W

McNabb — Rezoning Page 5
Parcel 135E 020A



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

McNabb- Minor Subdivision — Final Plat

Applicant David McNabb

Address 1703 Point Peter

Location 135E 020A

Zoning R-1

Request Reverse Subdivision—The applicant is requesting a minor subdivision for parcels 135E

020A

Shown on:

Plat of Subdivision Survey of Parcels 135E 020A City of St Marys, 29*" G.M.D. Camden County, Georgia. Created by

Cumberland Surveyors

Surrounding Land Uses
North R-1

East R-1

South R-1

West R-1

Considerations

The applicant is requesting a minor subdivision of parcels 135E 020A. This property is currently one

parcel that is .918 acres. The subdivision of this lot will create two lots: Lot 3-A will be .574 acres, and
lot 3-B will become will become .344 acres. Both lots conform to their current zoning category lot size.
Currently lot 3-B is non conforming to the development standards for the front and west side setbacks.
Lot 3-A is conforming to all of the setbacks within the R-1 zoning. Granting approval for the minor
subdivision will not create a more non-conforming lot.

Ordinance Requirements

Section 86 — SUBDIVISIONS

Reverse subdivision: Any subdivision combining one or more lots into one larger lot. All the
requirements for a major or minor subdivision (based on the number of lots combined) shall be met for
any reverse subdivision.

City of St. Marys - Section 86 — 64. Final Plat

Final Plat Requirements are listed below.

Staff Comments Ordinance Requirements
No the submitted plat does not show the building Notation of any self-imposed restrictions, and locations
lines. of any building lines proposed to be established in this

McNabb Minor Subdivision Parcel Id # 135E 020A - Staff Report



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

manner, if required by the planning commission by this
chapter.

Included

Listing of zoning classifications the subdivision is part
of, with all setbacks, height criteria, lot coverage,
parking requirements, easements, and other
restrictions noted.

Tax parcel number included

Notation on the drawing of the tax parcel numbers for
the parcel being approved.

Included — Property is Flood Plain X

Notation of the floodplain and its height and
restrictions.

| N/A

Endorsement of the county health department if
required.

Parcel numbers and street names are included.

Lots are numbered and street names are listed as
approved on the preliminary plat.

A digital copy was submitted.

A digital submission of the final plat by the city's
specified digital requirements shall be submitted. A
paper copy of the final plat will not be accepted by the
city unless accompanied by a digital copy of the final
plat.

Included

All monuments erected, corners, and other points
established in the field in their proper places. The
material of which the monuments, corners, or other
points are made shall be noted at the representation
thereof or by legend, except that lot corners need not
be shown. The legend for metal monuments shall
indicate the kind of metal, the diameter, length, and
weight per lineal foot of the monuments.

N/A

| enforce any covenants.

Notation as to the presence of covenants and the initial
term of said covenants. (Note: the actual text of the
covenants need not be listed, only that there are
covenants present.) The City of St. Mary will not

Sec. 86-81. - Completion of improvements.

All improvements required in this chapter shall be guaranteed. All improvements shall be dedicated to
the city, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances on the property and public improvements thus
dedicated and accepted by the city council upon completion of the one-year warranty. Before the final
plat is recorded by the planning director, all applicants shall be required to complete all the street,
sanitary, and other improvements as required in this chapter, specified in the final subdivision plat, and
as approved by the planning commission and city council.

McNabb Minor Subdivision Parcel Id # 135E 020A - Staff Report



City of St. Marys
Community Development

418 Osborne Street
St. Marys, Georgia 31558
(912) 510-4032

Sec. 86-35. - Easements.

The following easements shall be required within subdivisions if they apply to the project.
(1) Utility easements, (2) Drainage (3) Maintenance easements.

Discussion and Final Recommendation

The proposed action is defined by section 86- Subdivisions in the City of St Marys ordinance as a reverse
subdivision. The proposed lots will conform to the lot area and standard requirements for both Subsection 86-33
Lots and 86- Subdivisions. Staff recommends approval for this reverse subdivision in that any future development:
Upon review, the Community Development staff recommends approval with the following conditions:

The applicant will need to revise the final plat to show the following items

1. Building line setbacks on the plat
2. Clerk of courts recording block.
3. Mayor/mayor pro tempore's signature block:

McNabb Minor Subdivision Parcel Id # 135E 020A - Staff Report



New Business




CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 16, 2025

TITLE: Adoption of the FY 2026 Budget
PURPOSE: To approve the FY 2026 Budget

RECOMMENDATION: Approval

HISTORY/ANALYSIS:
The City of St. Marys advertised the FY2026 budget and has held the required public hearing.
It is recommended that the ordinance for the FY2026 budgets be adopted.

Department U}/
Director: @/ﬁié{ﬂ;

City

Manager:




An Ordinance to Adopt a City Budget
For the City of St. Marys, Georgia

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ST.
MARYS, GEORGIA, that the City enact an Ordinance to be entitled “Budget Ordinance
for the City of St. Marys, Georgia, for the fiscal year commencing July 1, 2025, and
ending June 30, 2026 to read as follows:

BE IT ORDAINED that the City hereby adopts the General Fund Budget as
prepared and submitted on June 16, 2025, a summary of which is attached hereto and
labeled “Exhibit A.”

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the City hereby adopts the Water & Sewer
Enterprise Fund Budget as prepared and submitted on June 16, 2025, a summary of
which is attached hereto and labeled “Exhibit B.”

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED that the City hereby adopts the Multi-Grant Fund,
Tax Allocation District #1 Fund, Tax Allocation District #2 Fund, Tax Allocation District
#3 Fund, Special Revenue Tourism Fund, Hotel/Motel Revenue Fund, SPLOST IX Fund,
Capital Improvement Fund-LMIG, Aquatic Park Fund, St. Marys Marina Fund, Solid
Waste Fund, Speed Detection Fund, Capital Improvement Fund Commerce Park-
Revenue Bonds, Debt Service Fund-Commerce Park, Capital Improvement Fund-St.
Marys Exit 1 Project, and Debt Service Fund-St. Marys Exit 1 as prepared and submitted
on June 16, 2025, a summary of each being attached hereto and labeled “Exhibit C.”

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of St. Marys does hereby ordain,
resolves, and enacts the foregoing Budget Ordinances for the City of St. Marys, Georgia.

Adopted this day of , 2025.

City of St. Marys, Georgia Attest:

Gregory K. Lockhart, Mayor Deborah Walker-Reed, City Clerk



Exhibit A

100 General Fund

Summary of Revenues
Property and Other Taxes

Licenses & Permits
Sales/Interest/Other Charges
Grants and Reimbursements
Miscellaneous Revenues

Sale of Property/Loan Proceeds
Fund Equity

Total Revenues

Summary of Expenditures
Legislative

Executive

Finance

Information Technology
Human Resources
General Governmental Buildings
Municipal Court

Police Department

Fire Department

Public Works
Highways & Streets
Cemetery

Senior Center

Parks

Library

Building Department
Community Department
Code Compliance
MainStreet

Special Facilities

Total Expenditures

FY2026 Proposed Budget
12,941,593

914,100
693,400
4,343,659
902,002

0
1,006,169

$ 20,800,923

FY2026 Proposed Budget
404,137

664,383
1,680,162
400,047
257,328
494,939
298,675
4,509,139
3,655,941
2,486,569
2,867,627
124,658
392,901
212,405
452,677
386,854
534,547
141,844
515,712
319,778

$ 20,800,923




Exhibit B

505 Water & Sewer Enterprise Fund

FY2026 Proposed Budget

Total Revenues s 15,315,735
Summary of Expenditures FY2026 Proposed Budget
Sewer Department 8,380,600
Water Department 3,646,796
Debt Service 3.288.339

Total Expenditures

1]

15,315,735




Exhibit C

Other Funds

211 — Speed Detection Fund

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

251 — Multi-Grant
Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

270 — Tax Allocation District #1
Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

271 — Tax Allocation District #2
Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

272 — Tax Allocation District #3

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

275 — Special Revenue Tourism Fund

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

276 — Hotel/Motel Revenue Fund

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

FY2026 Proposed Budget
8 25,000
b 25,000

FY2026 Proposed Budget
s 884,018
$ 884,018

FY2026 Proposed Budget

S 430,445
§ 430,445
FY2026 Proposed Budget
b 68,517
3 68,517
FY2026 Proposed Budget
s 1,360
b 1,360

FY2026 Proposed Budget
h) 427,185
g 427,185

FY2026 Proposed Budget
$ 307,000
$ 307,000




322 — SPLOST IX Fund

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

335 — Capital Improvement Fund
LMIG

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

360 — Capital Improvement Fund
Commerce Park-Revenue Bonds

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

370 — Capital Improvement Fund
St. Mary's Exit 1 Project

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

420 — Debt Service Fund

Commerce Park

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

430 — Debt Service Fund

St. Marv's Exit 1 Project

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

540 — Solid Waste Fund

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

FY2026 Proposed Budget

$ 1.800,000
$ 1,800,000
FY2026 Proposed Budget
3 250,000
8 250,000
FY2026 Proposed Budget
3 4,000,000
$ 4,000,000

FY2026 Proposed Budget
S 27,000,000
w

FY2026 Proposed Budget

$ 603,915
b 603,915
FY2026 Proposed Budget
$ 1,461,420
b 1,461,420

FY2026 Proposed Budget
%
s 3,055,746



555 — Aquatic Park Fund

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

560 — St. Marys Marina Fund

Total Revenues

Total Expenditures

FY2026 Proposed Budget

h

842,542

$

842.542

FY2026 Proposed Budget

h

160,853

h)

160,853




CITY COUNCIL MEETING

June 16, 2025

TITLE: OAK GROVE CEMETERY ORDINANCE UPDATES

PURPOSE: To amend the Oak Grove Cemetery Ordinance

RECOMMENDATION: Approval

HISTORY/ANALYSIS:

With the completion of the creation park in the Oak Grove Cemetery, it is necessary to update

the cemetery ordinance regarding creation burials and to address issues that have arisen over
time.

Department
Director:

lc\j/li;}l’lager: ) /Z// /




W oo N O [Py} bW 8] =

MR RRONNNRNDRERRRER R B |3 P
NOUBWNRPOWOWONNDTOAR WNRO

NN
O

30
31

32

33
34

35
36

37

38
39

40
41

42
43
44

Chapter 30 CEMETERIES
Sec. 30-1. Purpose.

The purpose for which the cemetery was created and is maintained is to provide a place dedicated and set apart
for the burial of the dead and consecrated to a public and sacred use.

Sec. 30-2. Ownership of lots.

Ownership of the underlying land of the cemetery and any occupied or unoccupied lots rests solely with the city.
Purchasers of lots within the cemetery are purchasing a license for the perpetual use of the lot for burial interment
only. The city requires the licensee to place a marker on the lot, however, the city is not responsible for the care,
repair, or replacement of any markers. The marker is the property of the licensee.

(1) Lots in the original section of Oak Grove Cemetery, first known as the St. Marys City Cemetery or
the Old Burying Ground, laid out by the city founders in 1788, are no longer subject to purchase
from the city. They may be purchased from present lot owners if the lot owner can provide a
recorded deed showing his legitimate ownership. It is the responsibility of the new owner to report
the transfer of ownership to the city, pay a transfer fee in the amount as set by council and
required by the city, and to have the new deed recorded at the courthouse at the owner's expense
within one year of purchase. Unrecorded deeds will not create any responsibility on the part of the
city to honor said unrecorded deed. Those with deeds to lots in the old section will be allowed to
use them subject to the regulations in this article as long as they have a written and recorded deed.
Should the plot have been in the possession of owners who have held possession for over 50 years
and no deed is available, it is up to the family of the deceased to prove their relation to the family
buried in that plot and to prove that the current family members, if any still living, approve the
burial in the family plot, and that the lot is empty of a vault/casket, no matter its condition, or
evidence of a previous burial. During the excavation by the funeral director, should the plot be
shown to have been used previously for a burial, work will cease immediately, and the party
handling the family's arrangements will be required to choose another plot in the new section of
the cemetery. The new section is the portion of the cemetery located west of the main entrance
road into the cemetery.

(2) Lots in the new section, west of the main entrance road into the cemetery, which have never been
purchased or are proved to be empty with no recarded owner are available for sale.

All regulations in the previous two paragraphs in regard to reporting and recording deeds and deed transfers
and transfer fees apply.

Sec. 30-3. Definitions.

The following words shall be defined as indicated. Where a word is not defined, the New American
Dictionary, latest edition, shall be the source of the definition:

Cemetery: Any cemetery within the legal jurisdiction of the City of St. Marys. This definition shall not include
private cemeteries or mausoleums.

City: Shall refer to the City of St. Marys.

City council: Shall refer to the elected body of the City of St. Marys and shall include all rights and privileges
afforded to the city council by city Charter and applicable state and federal law.

Columbarium: A portion of a cemetery specifically intended for the placement of urns containing cremated
remains. This shall include any structure, wall or other facility of its type within any cemetery.

Coping: Any material that outlines the perimeter of the grave site(s). Coping shall be defined, but not limited
to, concrete or cut stone blocks, brick, decorative rocks, mulch, mini-nuggets, or other similar materials. Centipede
grass is acceptable.

Created: 2025-85-28
Page 1 of 10



W oK ~NOYWU P2W N

[
N R O

[EE
()

16

17
18

19

20
21

22
23

24
25
26

27
28

29
30

31
32
33

34
35
36
37

38
39

40

Equipment: Shall refer to city-owned maintenance equipment as well as equipment owned by funeral
directors, monument companies, florists or contractors providing a service to the city on cemetery property.

Family: Shall refer to any known and identifiable relative of the individual interred in any lot that is
responsible for the upkeep and maintenance of any grave site or lot within the cemetery.

fencing: Any brick, concrete, wood, iron, plastic, aluminum or wire materials designed and intended for the
enclosure of any plot(s), from one inch above the finish grade to any height. Existing fencing in historic plots is
permitted to remain as long as fencing is well maintained.

Oak Grove Cemetery authority ("cemetery authority”): The instrumentality of the State of Georgia created by
Georgia House Bill 1188 (April 11, 2012) to oversee the care and preservation of Oak Grove Cemetery, to establish
a trust fund for such purpose, and to raise funds and accept donations for that trust fund.

Scattering field: A portion of a cemetery specifically intended for the scattering of cremated remains.
Utilities: Shall refer to water, sewer, electric or gas lines and security systems.

Vehicle: Shall refer to automobiles, golf carts, trucks, riding lawnmowers, lifting equipment, tree removal
equipment, tractors, bicycles, motor-driven scooters, recreational or all-terrain vehicles or any motorized or non-
motorized, two-wheeled and above machines.

Sec. 30-4. Status of cemeteries.

(a)  The only publicly owned cemetery within the city available for interment is Oak Grove Cemetery.

(b)  All other publicly owned cemeteries located within the city limits are closed to any burial and related work.

Sec. 30-5. Administration structure of the cemetery.

(a)  The administration of all publicly owned cemeteries shall be under the administrative jurisdiction of the
finance director or his or her designated staff.

(b)  The director, assigned staff, working with public works and the cemetery authority, shall be responsible for
the following major work areas:

(1) Recording sales of lots;
(2) Creating and maintaining drawings showing location of lots;
(3) Recording payments for the lots;

(4)  Preparing a deed for any sold lot with the lot purchaser being responsible for the recording of the deed
at the Camden County Courthouse;

(5)  Maintaining a membership in a cemetery association dedicated to the furtherance of cemetery use,
maintenance and history;

(6)  Providing full-time cemetery maintenance within the limits of the city budget to be accomplished
between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 4:00 3:30 p.m. Monday through Friday (weekend and/or evening
work will be considered overtime).

(c)  The cemetery authority shall be responsible for the following major work areas:
{1} Meeting with citizens requesting to purchase lots;
(2) Arranging for the sale of lots;
(3) Locating any lot in the field for the purpose of interment with a fee as determined by council;

(4) Locating any gravestone location for the purpose of installation of a stone with a fee as determined by
council;

(5) Overseeing maintenance of the cemetery grounds.

Created: 2025-85-28
Page 2 of 10



v bk WM

[+)]

w0 0o ~

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

21

22
23

24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40

Sec. 30-6. Hours of operation.

The Oak Grove Cemetery shall be open to the public on a daily basis from 7:00-a.m—until 7:20-p.r—0r 7:30
a.m. until 7:00 p.m. or sunset, whichever is earliest. It shall be unlawful for any person, other than city personnel
or cemetery authority members conducting or performing city business therein, to occupy or be present in the
cemetery at any time when the cemetery is not open to the public.

Sec. 30-7. Special events.

Special events are allowed only during the cemetery's operation hours. No special event shall be conducted within
the cemetery walls without the prior approval by city council. This approval will only be given during a regularly
scheduled city council meeting after staff review of the proposed event. Application for use of the cemetery for
special events shall be made to the community development director at least 30 days in advance of the event
outlining the nature of the event, the duration of the event, and any special needs for the event that will require
special services from city staff. A fee for use of the cemetery shall be assessed at the rate the city charges for other
facilities, plus any city services required for the special event shall be paid for by the event sponsor at a rate of 1.1
times the actual cost of the services. There shall be no special event authorized that negatively affects the
decorum or sanctity of the cemetery or the families of those buried within the cemetery. There shall be no
temporary or permanent-type facilities constructed or provided as part of the special event, and no vehicles of any
type in any cemetery area except on the main drive through the cemetery. Special events shall be limited to a
maximum of 30 persons due to the fragile nature of the monuments and grounds. All prohibited and unlawful
activities as defined in section 30-8, shall be enforced for any special event. Funeral services for recently deceased
citizens are not considered special events under this section.

Sec. 30-8. Prohibited and unlawful activities.

It shall be untawful for any person, group, organization, or corporation using the Oak Grove Cemetery or
adjacent grounds to either perform or permit to be performed any of the following acts:

(1} Willfully mark, deface, disfigure, disturb, injure, lean on, sit on, or tamper with any:
a. Building;
b. Bench;
c.  Waterling;
d.  Public utilities or parts or appurtenances thereof;

e.  Grave stones or grave markers or burial sites;

f. Vaults and vault covers of any material and their support;
g. Monument;

h.  Grave buildings;

i Corner markers;

j Enclosing walls to any group of gravestones;

k. Enclosing walls;

l. Fixed statuary;

m.  Ground elevation;

n.  American and/or Confederate flags, honorary markers and their metallic holders;
0. Cemetery equipment of any type;

p.  Trees and shrubs whether planted by the city or by prior relatives of the interred;

Created: 2025-05-28
Page 3 of 10



O o0 ~NOYUl w N =

[y
o

11
12
13
14

15
16
17
18

19
20
21

22
23

24
25
26
27
28

29
30

31
32
33

34

35

36
37
38
39
40
41
42

43

q.  Alltrees and shrubs are the property of the city and shall not be cut, defaced, carved on, nailed
on, or removed without tree board and HPC review and approval; or

r. Facilities or property or appurtenances whatsoever, either real or personal.

(2)  Disturb the peace and dignity of the cemetery grounds or use or display any profane, obscene,
blasphemous, or inflammatory language or symbols which are or may be reasonably construed to be
inconsistent with or disruptive of the purpose for which the cemetery was created and is maintained,
to wit: a place dedicated and set apart for the burial of the dead and consecrated to a public and
sacred use.

(3) Carry, possess or consume any alcoholic beverage or illegal drug.
(4) Interfere with the rights of family members of deceased persons interred in the cemetery.

(5}  Organize or conduct any church or religious observance, assembly, service, or congregational activity
inside the cemetery boundaries unless such church or religious observance involves a burial, interment,
re-interment, or memorial service conducted at the express request, direction, and authorization of
the family or legal representative of the deceased person.

(6) Conduct assemblies or other gatherings organized by local civic organizations, churches or tourism
organizations, except as approved by city council as special events as noted under section 30-7, inside
cemetery walls. Such assemblies shall be held only outside the walls of the cemetery in order to
respect the peace and dignity of those buried within and of their families.

{(7)  Drive any private vehicle or golf cart outside of the marked limits of the access road to the cemetery.
Cemetery maintenance and funeral home equipment are exempt from this clause to the extent that no
damage is made to the grounds and features of the cemetery.

(8) Leave behind any item not related to the honoring of the dead, including, but not limited to, hoses,
rakes, bins, trash, refuse, leaf and stick piles, stones, or other debris.

(9)  Permit dogs or any other type of pet or domesticated animal within the boundaries of the cemetery.
Dogs and other pets or domesticated animals are not permitted at any time, even if they are restrained
on a leash. Service dogs are permitted when under the full control of the citizen that requires the use
of same. Dogs, and/or any other type of pet or domesticated animal, are permitted when fully confined
within the owner's vehicle.

(10) Pressure washing or scrubbing with cleaning utensils such as wire brushes or other abrasive utensils,
cleaning stones with bleach, soap, or any other harsh chemicals.

(11) Rubbing of stone inscriptions with chalk or other substances. Such rubbings are prohibited due to
damages caused by these substances except in the instance of contractors needing to replicate the size
and fonts for match on existing or new monuments.

Sec. 30-9. Oak Grove Cemetery rules and regulations.

The following shall constitute the rules and regulations of the Oak Grove Cemetery:

(1) The size of each burial lot is normally Fve feet by ten feet, although there are varylng sized Iots that may
be shghtly smaller or larger. Ir d - o

) . ) . . : . sncil A f|I|ng
fee for the deed shall be added to the cost of the burlal Iot and each deed shall be recorded by-thepurshasared
the-buriaHet by the City of St. Marys at Camden County Records, and the recorded deed shall be mailed to the
purchaser

{2) No burial will be placed on top of another burial for any reason.

Created: 2025-85-28

Page 4 of 10



(e} o~ a = W N =

ol
= O

=
w N

[ S Ty
(SRS

B
0o ~

N B
o

N NN
w N =

N
i

N NN
~N o>

N
oo

w wN
= O ©

w W w
BN

w w
[N, |

w w
Co ~

bW
= O W

i
N

(3)  No person shall dig any grave or bury, attempt to bury, exhume or remove any corpse in the city's
cemetery without notice to and permission of the cemetery authority. All fees shall be paid prior to interment.

No grave shall be opened for the purpose of interments or dis-interments in the city's cemetery except by
licensed funeral directors or contractors working for funeral directors.

{5) The cemetery authority shall mark all burial lots prior to burials and all corner markers, headstones, and
monuments prior to being set. A fee for this service shall be set by the city council.

(6) Burial lot corner markers are permitted; however, such markers shall not extend more than one inch
above ground level.

(7) Any monument, gravestone, or slab erected within the city cemetery must have a firm foundation of
brick, stone, mortar, and/or concrete, or reinforcing sufficient to prevent the same from failing, sinking, leaning
or coliapsing.

(8) Burial vaults are required for each interment and shall be below ground level. Slabs to cover graves are
permitted and must be at ground level.

{9) The planting of trees and shrubbery is prohibited without the written approval of the cemetery authority.
Grass is the only permitted foliage that may be planted within the cemetery. Grass may only be planted on the
lot owner's parcel. Mowing of grass on any parcel shall be the responsibility of the cemetery landscaping staff.

{10) Coping or fencing by non-authorized personnel is prohibited, except that traditional stone coping is
permitted when installed with the top set at one inch above the level of the surrounding ground.

(11) No one may enter the cemetery between after sunset or 7:20 7:00 p.m., whichever is earliest, or before
ard-7:00-a.m- 7:30 a.m. except city or cemetery authority personnel, or emergency personnel.

(12) No one may injure or deface any trees, flowers, shrubbery, graves, tombstones, monuments, seats,
buildings or structures of any kind in the cemetery. Carving on or nailing items into trees is specifically
prohibited as is puncturing of tree bark for any reason.

(13) No one may commit a nuisance or deposit trash or refuse matter in the cemetery.

(14) Unless the cemetery authority establishes perpetual care for individual lots, each family using the
cemetery is required to keep their burial lots clean and free of all faded artificial flowers, broken pots, dead
flowers, toys, or other debris.

(15) No vaults or other materials may be stored outside the cemetery walls or within the city cemetery area.
(16) or-desighatedstafforcemeteryauth must-be-contactedford
ofany-exeess-dirt—Any excess dirt or material left over after a burial must be hauled away by the burial
company. Failure to comply could result in the revocation of burial privileges within the cemetery.

(17) Any firm conducting business within the city cemetery is responsible for maintaining the cleanliness of the
area in which they work and reporting any damage caused to the cemetery authority representative or

community-development finance director's office.

{18) Canopies shall be removed within seven days of the burial date and shall not be erected more than two
days prior to the burial date.

{19) Donations will be accepted and used by the Oak Grove Cemetery authority for the benefit of the
cemetery.

{20) Each grave is required to be marked by the licensee with a permanent marker. Acceptable markers are
a concrete slab, headstone, or minimum 12-inch by 24-inch head or foot stone marker with name and
dates.

{21) Public restrooms are not available within the cemetery.

Created: 2025-85-28

Page 5 of 10



o N O U R W N R

[
= O

= e
HWN

Y
[y

MR R
0w~ ;D

e}
o

NN NN
HWN

N
u

N NN
0o ~N O

w N
o

W wwwwww
~NOoO U R WwWN e

W W
O WO &

b
w N R

44
45
46

(22)

(23)

(24)

(25)
(26)

(27)
(28)

(29)
(30)

(31)

(32)

(33)

(34)

The maximum allowable size for any tractor digging, closing or preparing burial sites within the Oak
Grove Cemetery shall be 140 inches in length, 65 inches in width and a maximum wheelbase of 75
inches. Only the minimum size boom or crane truck will be permitted to install burial vaults, head
stones or slabs. Any vehicle damaging property within the cemetery will be banned from the cemetery
and the company operating the equipment will be held liable for any damages. No vehicle may drive
over any slab, monument, or any other burial lot identification structure located within the Oak Grove
Cemetery.

Water hose used for cleaning or irrigation must be supplied by lot owner and each hose must be
removed from the cemetery as owner departs the cemetery. Failure to remove a hose will result in the
city removing and disposing of the water hose. The plot owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed
of item.

Any garden tools or other items needed to maintain a lot must be supplied by lot owner and removed
from the cemetery as owner departs the cemetery. Any tools left will be removed and disposed of by
the city. The plot owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed of item.

No lights may be installed within the cemetery except those installed by the city.

Any plant, decoration or other object not located on a slab, monument or within legal lot lines will be
removed and disposed of by the city or the cemetery authority. Items used during a funeral service
must be removed or located totally within the owners legal lot lines, seven days following the funeral
service. The plot owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed of item.

Benches must be placed within a lot owner's legal lot lines.

Any dilapidated bench, pot or other decoration will be removed immediately either by cemetery staff
or by the plot owner and relocated by plot name to the cemetery maintenance structure. If after 30
days the plot owner does not replace or claim the item(s), the city will dispose of the item(s). The plot
owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed of item,

Lot owners are not permitted to plant trees on their lots without permission of the cemetery authority.

No one is permitted to install rock mulch or other permanent mulch on any lot in Oak Grove Cemetery
to prevent damage from stones thrown from cemetery equipment onto adjacent gravestones and to
prevent injury to bystanders.

Containers, which do not provide proper drainage, are not permitted. Glass containers, glass
ornaments or glass decoration of any type is not permitted.

Any exception to the above regulations must be approved by the cemetery authority. Before making an
exception, the cemetery authority must determine that all the following conditions are met: (a) the
exception is necessary for the use of a cemetery lot in the same as other cemetery lots; (b) the
exception would not materially be detrimental to the purposes of this chapter, or to other lots or
property in the cemetery or adjacent property, or otherwise conflict with any objective of the city or
cemetery authority; (c) the exception requested is the minimum exception which would alleviate the
need; and (d) the need for an exception is not the result of the action of the owner or previous owner.

A grid map of the cemetery's lots is kept in the office of the community-development finance director
and by the Oak Grove Cemetery authority and can be changed at any time to meet future burial needs
and earlier burials as long as no burials are disturbed.

The cemetery authority, under proper notification of city manager or communibydevelopment finance
director, may be required to suspend these rules and regulations for a stated time period during a
declared emergency event.

Page 6 of 10

Created: 2025-05-28



w N

W N b

10

11
12

13

14

15
16

17
18

19
20
21

22

23
24
25

26

27
28
29
30

31

32

33
34

(36)

(37)

(38)

to the purchaser. Columbarium niches for urns containing ashes or a cemetery section devoted to
scattering ashes are not presently available. Should they become available in the future, specific
locations and prices will be determined by the city council.

No coping, corner markers, or monuments may be placed on the surface of a burial lot until the lot has
been paid for in full. Any permanent statue, sculpture, or figurine placed on a cemetery lot must be
approved by the cemetery authority. Photographs or drawings of such structures may be submitted
for approval in advance of purchase. Such figures must be tasteful and not depreciate the value of the
surrounding cemetery lots.

The base of the container of ashes in cremation burials shall rest at least two feet below the surface of
the soil.

Containers which do not provide proper drainage are not permitted to be left in the cemetery. This
includes glass vases, birdbaths, bottles, full bottles of alcoholic beverages, and beverage cans.

Sec. 30-10. Fee schedule.

(a)

(b)
(c)

The City of St. Marys, by separate fee ordinance, does hereby adopt the cemetery fee schedule with the
price of lots or niches, and the fee for scattering of ashes.

(1)

(2)

A copy of the fee ordinance was adopted and approved by city council is on file at the city clerk's office

and in the office of the communitydevelepment finance department.

A portion amounting to at least one-half of the income from each lot sale shall be set aside in a trust
fund account administered by the cemetery authority in an account maintained by the city finance
department for the maintenance and preservation of the cemetery.

All payments shall be made to the City of St. Marys, 418 Osborne Street, St. Marys, Georgia, 31558.

A filing fee for the deed shall be added to the cost of the burial lot and each deed shall be recorded at the
Camden County Courthouse by the burial lot purchaser at the sole expense and timing of the purchaser with
copy of recorded deed returned to the city for reference. Unrecorded deeds will not be honored by the city.

Sec. 30-11. Insurance requirement for vendors working within the cemetery.

(a)

(b)

Prior to any funeral director or monument company opening a lot for burial, or setting a head stone, corner
stone, slabs, bases or any other placement of monument ornamentals, a certificate of insurance naming the
City of St. Marys and Oak Grove Cemetery as additional insured ATIMA, shall be provided by all vendors and
funeral directors prior to being allowed to enter the cemetery for any and all work related purposes.

Insurance must be provided by A-rated carriers with limits of liability no less than shown below:

$2,000,000.00 General Aggregate
$1,000,000.00 Products Completed
Operations
$1,000,000.00 Each Occurrence
$5,000.00 Medical Expenses

(c)

Vendors and funeral directors must also provide a Georgia Cemetery and Funeral Services Act Bond
(Merchandise Dealers Bond) in an amount no less than $25,000.00.

Page 7 of 10

Created: 2025-05-28




11

12
13
14
15

16
17
18
19

20
21
22

23
24
25
26
27
28

29
30
31

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GA

(d) Proof of insurance to the City of St. Marys must be updated annually with new certificates of insurance.
Deliver by U.S. Mail or by hand to the planning and building department.

Sec. 30-12. Indigent citizens.

A burial lot shall be made available for the interment of indigent individuals, as that term is defined in
0.C.G.A. § 36-12-1 et seq., who are bona fide residents of the City of St. Marys or patients of facilities located in
the City of St. Marys at the time of death, and the city manager shall make application to the Camden County
Board of Commissioners, pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 36-12-5, for reimbursement for the cost of the burial lot.

Sec. 30-13. Penalty for violation of chapter.

Violation of these rules, regulations and prohibitions, upon conviction, shall be punished as provided in
section 1-12.

Sec. 30-14. Handling of cremations in Oak Grove Cemetery.

(a) i iA-designa rd-are
ava#able—fer—theMeﬂnem—ef—theeFemmnsef-ene#mduaLAs ofJuly 1, 2025 one adult sized plots Iocated
throughout the cemetery may be purchased at the regular price and used for the interment of no more than

one set of cremains. Two cremation burials will be allowed in adult-sized lots purchased before

anetherindividual-with-up-te-two-markers-entheplet: As of July 1, 2025, all other cremation burials will

take place in the cremation park located near the southwest corner of Oak Grove Cemetery.

m&erment—plet—An inurnment bench may be placed only with the consent of the Oak Grove Cemetery
Authority.

(d)

purpose of holdmg a smgle inurnment bench to hold one set of cremains will sell for the same price as an
adult interment plot. Such a bench shall be made of marble or granite, will be placed in the center of the lot,
and will be used in place of any other memorial. An inurnment bench must fit within the required size limit of
a regular Oak Grove lot.

REF gt -7 FRaE i A - The City of
St. Marys by separate fee ordlnance does hereby adopt an admlnlstratlon fee for each placement of ashes
in an inurnment bench.

Created: 2025-85-28
Page 8 of 10



ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GA

10
11
12

13

14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34

Section 30-15 Balloon Releases in Cemetery

(a)

it shall be unlawful for any person to intentionally release, organize the release of, or intentionally cause
to be released one or more balloons inflated with a gas that is lighter than air in Oak Grove Cemetery.

(b) Any person who shall violate or fail to comply with the provisions of this section shall be charged with such

violation, tried in municipal court, and upon being found guilty shall be fined $100.00 for the first offense
and $500 for each subsequent offense.

SECTION 30-16: Cemetery Tours and Special Events

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)
(e)

(f)
(g)

(h)

Any special activity or event on cemetery property must be approved in advance by the Oak Grove Cemetery

Authority and the City Manager. Permissible activities include but are not limited to memorial services,

weddings, monument unveiling ceremonies, educational, historical, or cultural awareness tours, public

recognition ceremaonies, religious events, family or church gatherings, photography or nature appreciation,
conservation, beautification, or cemetery improvement activities.

The City has the discretion to exclude tours and special events from any portion of any cemetery.
Interment services shall have priority over tours, special activities, and events in all cemeteries. Tours may
be prohibited from areas with open graves or funeral services, and groups may be asked to move or leave
an area where interment services are scheduled.

Cemetery tours may be conducted between the hours of 7:30 AM and 7:00 PM or sunset, whichever is
earliest, seven days a week, by walking only unless a wheelchair is necessary.

Athletic events, treasure hunting, scavenger hunting, loud gatherings, and other activities or events
determined to be offensive, sacrilegious, disrespectful, or disruptive to the dignity and character of the
cemetery will not be permitted.

Any tour vehicles marked as haunted or involving ghosts are strictly prohibited from the cemetery.

The tour guide or group organizer shall immediately report any damage to trees, shrubbery, turf, coping, lot
markers, roadways, or structures caused by a vehicle or guests of the tour/activity to the city finance
director. The tour company or group organizer will be responsible for compensating the City for any
damages caused to City property.

Alcohol of any type is strictly prohibited from cemetery grounds. Person(s) caught with alcohol and/or
intoxicated persons will be asked to leave the cemetery. Guides, organizers, or agency representatives

Created: 2025-85-28

Page 9 of 10



O o N o &WNE

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GA

condoning such behavior on cemetery property may be subject to a suspension of services on cemetery
grounds.

(i) Each tour or activity must provide its own means of waste disposal. No garbage is to be left on cemetery
property. Cigarette butts are undesirable waste and are not to be littered or left on cemetery property.

(i)  Tour service vehicles over twenty-five (25) feet in length shall park on the city right-of-way outside of the
cemetery only.

Sec. 30-17. Violations

Any individual or organization that habitually violates the cemetery rules and regulations shall be prohibited from
holding future tours or events in the cemetery.

Created: 2025-85-28
Page 10 of 10



[y

W oo N O UV W N

[y
o

=R
[N

B R
o b~ w

N BB
O W o~

N
[

NN
w N

Mo
i

N NNN
[o L IEL N e B O}

2, PP WWUMWWWWWWWWN
PWNROOVONOOUIDWNRELR OO

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

At the regular meeting of the St. Marys City Council, held in the $t. Marys City Hall, St. Marys, Georgia.

Present:

Gregory Lockhart, Mayor

Artie Jones, Jr., Councilman, Post 1
Steven Conner, Councilman, Post 2
Chad Ingram, Councilman Post 3
Jeremy Nascimento, Councilman, Post 4
Allen F Rassi Jr., Councilman, Post 5
Patricia Keene, Councilwoman, Post 6

On motion of , which carried , the following
Ordinance amendment was adopted:

AN AMENDMENT TO THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, CITY OF ST. MARYS, GEORGIA,
CEMETERIES

Be it, and it is, hereby ordained by the Mayor and Council of the City of St. Marys, this day of
, 2025 that Chapter 30, Section 6-17 of the Code of Ordinances, City of St. Marys, Georgia is
hereby amended to read as follows:

Sec. 30-1. Purpose.

The purpose for which the cemetery was created and is maintained is to provide a place dedicated and set apart
for the burial of the dead and consecrated to a public and sacred use.

Sec. 30-2. Ownership of lots.

Ownership of the underlying land of the cemetery and any occupied or unoccupied lots rests solely with the city.
Purchasers of lots within the cemetery are purchasing a license for the perpetual use of the lot for burial interment
only. The city requires the licensee to place a marker on the lot, however, the city is not responsible for the care,
repair, or replacement of any markers. The marker is the property of the licensee.

(1) Lots in the original section of Oak Grove Cemetery, first known as the St. Marys City Cemetery or
the Old Burying Ground, laid out by the city founders in 1788, are no longer subject to purchase
from the city. They may be purchased from present lot owners if the lot owner can provide a
recorded deed showing his legitimate ownership. It is the responsibility of the new owner to report
the transfer of ownership to the city, pay a transfer fee in the amount as set by council and
required by the city, and to have the new deed recorded at the courthouse at the owner's expense
within one year of purchase. Unrecorded deeds will not create any responsibility on the part of the
city to honor said unrecorded deed. Those with deeds to lots in the old section will be allowed to
use them subject to the regulations in this article as long as they have a written and recorded deed.
Should the plot have been in the possession of owners who have held possession for over 50 years
and no deed is available, it is up to the family of the deceased to prove their relation to the family
buried in that plot and to prove that the current family members, if any still living, approve the
burial in the family plot, and that the lot is empty of a vault/casket, no matter its condition, or
evidence of a previous burial. During the excavation by the funeral director, should the plot be
shown to have been used previously for a burial, work will cease immediately, and the party
handling the family's arrangements will be required to choose another plot in the new section of

Created: 2925-95-28-
Page 1 of 10



oy U W N =

10
11

12

13
14

15
16

17
18
19

20
21

22
23

24
25
26

27
28
29

30
31

32
33
34

35

36
37

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

the cemetery. The new section is the portion of the cemetery located west of the main entrance
road into the cemetery.

(2) Lots in the new section, west of the main entrance road into the cemetery, which have never been
purchased or are proved to be empty with no recorded owner are available for sale.

All regulations in the previous two paragraphs in regard to reporting and recording deeds and deed transfers
and transfer fees apply.

Sec. 30-3. Definitions.

The following words shall be defined as indicated. Where a word is not defined, the New American
Dictionary, latest edition, shall be the source of the definition:

Cemetery: Any cemetery within the legal jurisdiction of the City of St. Marys. This definition shall not include
private cemeteries or mausoleums.

City: Shall refer to the City of St. Marys.

City council: Shall refer to the elected body of the City of St. Marys and shall include all rights and privileges
afforded to the city council by city Charter and applicable state and federal law.

Columbarium: A portion of a cemetery specifically intended for the placement of urns containing cremated
remains. This shall include any structure, wall or other facility of its type within any cemetery.

Coping: Any material that outlines the perimeter of the grave site(s). Coping shall be defined, but not limited
to, concrete or cut stone blocks, brick, decorative rocks, mulch, mini-nuggets, or other similar materials. Centipede
grass is acceptable.

Equipment: Shall refer to city-owned maintenance equipment as well as equipment owned by funeral
directors, monument companies, florists or contractors providing a service to the city on cemetery property.

Family: Shall refer to any known and identifiable relative of the individual interred in any lot that is
responsible for the upkeep and maintenance of any grave site or lot within the cemetery.

Fencing: Any brick, concrete, wood, iron, plastic, aluminum or wire materials designed and intended for the
enclosure of any plot(s), from one inch above the finish grade to any height. Existing fencing in historic plots is
permitted to remain as long as fencing is well maintained.

Oak Grove Cemetery authority ("cemetery authority”): The instrumentality of the State of Georgia created by
Georgia House Bill 1188 (April 11, 2012) to oversee the care and preservation of Oak Grove Cemetery, to establish
a trust fund for such purpose, and to raise funds and accept donations for that trust fund.

Scattering field: A portion of a cemetery specifically intended for the scattering of cremated remains.
Utilities: Shall refer to water, sewer, electric or gas lines and security systems.

Vehicle: Shall refer to automobiles, golf carts, trucks, riding lawnmowers, lifting equipment, tree removal
equipment, tractors, bicycles, motor-driven scooters, recreational or all-terrain vehicles or any motorized or non-
motorized, two-wheeled and above machines.

Sec. 30-4. Status of cemeteries.

(a) The only publicly owned cemetery within the city available for interment is Oak Grove Cemetery.

(b)  All other publicly owned cemeteries located within the city limits are closed to any burial and related work.

Created: 2025-05-28
Page 2 of 10



[

(=] 00 ~N O (%2 B - w N

[y
o

o
N o~

[ Y
n b w

I el
© W N O

NN
= O

N
N

23

24
25
26
27

28

29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

Sec. 30-5. Administration structure of the cemetery.

(a) The administration of all publicly owned cemeteries shall be under the administrative jurisdiction of the
finance director or his or her designated staff.

(b) The director, assigned staff, working with public works and the cemetery authority, shall be responsible for
the following major work areas:

(1) Recording sales of lots;
(2) Creating and maintaining drawings showing location of lots;
(3) Recording payments for the lots;

{(4) Preparing a deed for any sold lot with the lot purchaser being responsible for the recording of the deed
at the Camden County Courthouse;

(5) Maintaining a membership in a cemetery association dedicated to the furtherance of cemetery use,
maintenance and history;

(6)  Providing full-time cemetery maintenance within the limits of the city budget to be accomplished
between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 3:30 p.m. Monday through Friday (weekend and/or evening work
will be considered overtime).

{c) The cemetery authority shall be responsible for the following major work areas:
(1) Meeting with citizens requesting to purchase lots;
(2)  Arranging for the sale of lots;
(3) Locating any lot in the field for the purpose of interment with a fee as determined by council;

(4) Locating any gravestone location for the purpose of installation of a stone with a fee as determined by
council;

{5) Overseeing maintenance of the cemetery grounds.

Sec. 30-6. Hours of operation.

The Oak Grove Cemetery shall be open to the public on a daily basis from 7:30 a.m. until 7:00 p.m. or sunset,
whichever is earliest. It shall be unlawful for any person, other than city personnel or cemetery authority members
conducting or performing city business therein, to occupy or be present in the cemetery at any time when the
cemetery is not open to the public.

Sec. 30-7. Special events.

Special events are allowed only during the cemetery's operation hours. No special event shall be conducted within
the cemetery walls without the prior approval by city council. This approval will only be given during a regularly
scheduled city council meeting after staff review of the proposed event. Application for use of the cemetery for
special events shall be made to the community development director at least 30 days in advance of the event
outlining the nature of the event, the duration of the event, and any special needs for the event that will require
special services from city staff. A fee for use of the cemetery shall be assessed at the rate the city charges for other
facilities, plus any city services required for the special event shall be paid for by the event sponsor at a rate of 1.1
times the actual cost of the services. There shall be no special event authorized that negatively affects the
decorum or sanctity of the cemetery or the families of those buried within the cemetery. There shall be no
temporary or permanent-type facilities constructed or provided as part of the special event, and no vehicles of any
type in any cemetery area except on the main drive through the cemetery. Special events shall be limited to a
maximum of 30 persons due to the fragile nature of the monuments and grounds. All prohibited and unlawful

Created: 20625-85-28
Page 3 of 10



O 0 ~N O [V -

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22

23
24

25

26
27
28
29
30

31
32

33
34
35
36

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

activities as defined in section 30-8, shall be enforced for any special event. Funeral services for recently deceased
citizens are not considered special events under this section,

Sec. 30-8. Prohibited and unlawful activities.

It shall be unlawful for any person, group, organization, or corporation using the Oak Grove Cemetery or
adjacent grounds to either perform or permit to be performed any of the following acts:

(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)
(5)

Willfully mark, deface, disfigure, disturb, injure, lean on, sit on, or tamper with any:

a.
b.

C.

T @ o

r.

Building;

Bench;

Water line;

Public utilities or parts or appurtenances thereof;

Grave stones or grave markers or burial sites;

Vaults and vault covers of any material and their support;

Monument;

Grave buildings;

Corner markers;

Enclosing walls to any group of gravestones;

Enclosing walls;

Fixed statuary;

Ground elevation;

American and/or Confederate flags, honorary markers and their metallic holders;
Cemetery equipment of any type;

Trees and shrubs whether planted by the city or by prior relatives of the interred;

All trees and shrubs are the property of the city and shall not be cut, defaced, carved on, nailed
on, or removed without tree board and HPC review and approval; or

Facilities or property or appurtenances whatsoever, either real or personal.

Disturb the peace and dignity of the cemetery grounds or use or display any profane, obscene,
blasphemous, or inflammatory language or symbols which are or may be reasonably construed to be
inconsistent with or disruptive of the purpose for which the cemetery was created and is maintained,
to wit: a place dedicated and set apart for the burial of the dead and consecrated to a public and
sacred use.

Carry, possess or consume any alcoholic beverage or illegal drug.

Interfere with the rights of family members of deceased persons interred in the cemetery.

Organize or conduct any church or religious observance, assembly, service, or congregational activity

inside the cemetery boundaries unless such church or religious observance involves a burial, interment,

re-interment, or memarial service conducted at the express request, direction, and authorization of
the family or legal representative of the deceased person.

Page 4 of 10

Created: 2025-85-28



W e ~NoOWU, AW N

[ =S SRy
DWNRO

=
o »

[ G
© 00

20

21

22
23
24
25

26

27
28

29
30

31
32

33
34

35
36
37

38
39

40
41
42

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

(6) Conduct assemblies or other gatherings organized by local civic organizations, churches or tourism
organizations, except as approved by city council as special events as noted under section 30-7, inside
cemetery walls. Such assemblies shall be held only outside the walls of the cemetery in order to
respect the peace and dignity of those buried within and of their families.

(7)  Drive any private vehicle or golf cart outside of the marked limits of the access road to the cemetery.
Cemetery maintenance and funeral home equipment are exempt from this clause to the extent that no
damage is made to the grounds and features of the cemetery.

(8) Leave behind any item not related to the honoring of the dead, including, but not limited to, hoses,
rakes, bins, trash, refuse, leaf and stick piles, stones, or other debris.

(9)  Permit dogs or any other type of pet or domesticated animal within the boundaries of the cemetery.
Dogs and other pets or domesticated animals are not permitted at any time, even if they are restrained
on a leash. Service dogs are permitted when under the full control of the citizen that requires the use
of same. Dogs, and/or any other type of pet or domesticated animal, are permitted when fully confined
within the owner's vehicle.

(10) Pressure washing or scrubbing with cleaning utensils such as wire brushes or other abrasive utensils,
cleaning stones with bleach, soap, or any other harsh chemicals.

(11) Rubbing of stone inscriptions with chalk or other substances. Such rubbings are prohibited due to
damages caused by these substances except in the instance of contractors needing to replicate the size
and fonts for match on existing or new monuments.

Sec. 30-9. Oak Grove Cemetery rules and regulations.

The following shall constitute the rules and regulations of the Oak Grove Cemetery:

(1) The size of each burial lot is normally five feet by ten feet, although there are varying sized lots that may
be slightly smalier or larger. A filing fee for the deed shall be added to the cost of the burial lot and each deed
shall be recorded by the City of St. Marys at Camden County Records, and the recorded deed shall be mailed to
the purchaser.

{2)  No burial will be placed on top of another buriai for any reason.

(3) No person shall dig any grave or bury, attempt to bury, exhume or remove any corpse in the city's
cemetery without notice to and permission of the cemetery authority. All fees shall be paid prior to interment.

No grave shall be opened for the purpose of interments or dis-interments in the city's cemetery except by
licensed funeral directors or contractors working for funeral directors.

(5) The cemetery authority shall mark all burial lots prior to burials and all corner markers, headstones, and
monuments prior to being set. A fee for this service shall be set by the city council.

(6) Burial lot corner markers are permitted; however, such markers shall not extend more than one inch
above ground level.

(7) Any monument, gravestone, or slab erected within the city cemetery must have a firm foundation of
brick, stone, mortar, and/or concrete, or reinforcing sufficient to prevent the same from failing, sinking, leaning
or collapsing.

(8) Burial vaults are required for each interment and shall be below ground level. Slabs to cover graves are
permitted and must be at ground level.

(9) The planting of trees and shrubbery is prohibited without the written approval of the cemetery authority.
Grass is the only permitted foliage that may be planted within the cemetery. Grass may only be planted on the
lot owner's parcel. Mowing of grass on any parcel shall be the responsibility of the cemetery landscaping staff.

Created: 2025-05-28

Page 5 of 10



W 0w ~NoOuUu W N

R
[ )

[y
[\

IRy
B W

[E
N o

[EEgY
O 0o

NN
= O

NN
B WN

28}
(%]

W wwnN M MNDN
N P O WO N

w www
oUW

w w w
Ww 0~

Fy
o

Fogr
N =

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

{10) Coping or fencing by non-authorized personnel is prohibited, except that traditional stone coping is
permitted when installed with the top set at one inch above the level of the surrounding ground.

{11) No one may enter the cemetery after sunset or 7:00 p.m., whichever is earliest, or before 7:30 a.m.
except city or cemetery authority personnel, or emergency personnel.

(12) No one may injure or deface any trees, flowers, shrubbery, graves, tombstones, monuments, seats,
buildings or structures of any kind in the cemetery. Carving on or nailing items into trees is specifically
prohibited as is puncturing of tree bark for any reason.

(13) No one may commit a nuisance or deposit trash or refuse matter in the cemetery.

(14) Unless the cemetery authority establishes perpetual care for individual lots, each family using the
cemetery is required to keep their burial lots clean and free of all faded artificial flowers, broken pots, dead
flowers, toys, or other debris.

(15) No vaults or other materials may be stored outside the cemetery walls or within the city cemetery area.

(16) Any excess dirt or material left over after a burial must be hauled away by the burial company. Failure to
comply could result in the revocation of burial privileges within the cemetery.

(17) Any firm conducting business within the city cemetery is responsible for maintaining the cleanliness of the
area in which they work and reporting any damage caused to the cemetery authority representative or finance
director's office.

(18) Canopies shall be removed within seven days of the burial date and shall not be erected more than two
days prior to the burial date.

(19) Donations will be accepted and used by the Oak Grove Cemetery authority for the benefit of the
cemetery.

(20) Each grave is required to be marked by the licensee with a permanent marker. Acceptable markers are
a concrete slab, headstone, or minimum 12-inch by 24-inch head or foot stone marker with name and
dates.

(21) Public restrooms are not available within the cemetery.

(22) The maximum allowable size for any tractor digging, closing or preparing burial sites within the Oak
Grove Cemetery shall be 140 inches in length, 65 inches in width and a maximum wheelbase of 75
inches. Only the minimum size boom or crane truck will be permitted to install burial vaults, head
stones or slabs. Any vehicle damaging property within the cemetery will be banned from the cemetery
and the company operating the equipment will be held liable for any damages. No vehicle may drive
over any slab, monument, or any other burial lot identification structure located within the Oak Grove
Cemetery.

(23) Water hose used for cleaning or irrigation must be supplied by lot owner and each hose must be
removed from the cemetery as owner departs the cemetery. Failure to remove a hose will result in the
city removing and disposing of the water hose. The plot owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed
of item.

(24) Any garden tools or other items needed to maintain a lot must be supplied by lot owner and removed
from the cemetery as owner departs the cemetery. Any tools left will be removed and disposed of by
the city. The plot owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed of item.

(25) No lights may be installed within the cemetery except those installed by the city.

(26) Any plant, decoration or other object not located on a slab, monument or within legal ot lines will be
removed and disposed of by the city or the cemetery authority. Items used during a funeral service

Created: 2825-85-28

Page 6 of 10



W W Noudks W NP

R
[ )

I
w N

N R R R R Rp
OCWVWw~NOU A

N NN
W N =

NN
v b

26
27
28
29
30
31

32
33
34
35
36

37
38

39
40

41

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

(27)
(28)

(29)
(30)

(31)

(32)

(33)

(34)

(35)

(36)

(37)

(38)

must be removed or located totally within the owners legal lot lines, seven days following the funeral
service. The plot owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed of item.

Benches must be placed within a lot owner's legal lot lines.

Any dilapidated bench, pot or other decoration will be removed immediately either by cemetery staff
or by the plot owner and relocated by plot name to the cemetery maintenance structure. If after 30
days the plot owner does not replace or claim the item(s), the city will dispose of the item(s). The plot
owner will not be reimbursed for any disposed of item.

Lot owners are not permitted to plant trees on their lots without permission of the cemetery authority.

No one is permitted to install rock mulch or other permanent mulch on any lot in Oak Grove Cemetery
to prevent damage from stones thrown from cemetery equipment onto adjacent gravestones and to
prevent injury to bystanders.

Containers, which do not provide proper drainage, are not permitted. Glass containers, glass
ornaments or glass decoration of any type is not permitted.

Any exception to the above regulations must be approved by the cemetery authority. Before making an
exception, the cemetery authority must determine that all the following conditions are met: {a) the
exception is necessary for the use of a cemetery lot in the same as other cemetery lots; (b) the
exception would not materially be detrimental to the purposes of this chapter, or to other lots or
property in the cemetery or adjacent property, or otherwise conflict with any objective of the city or
cemetery authority; (c) the exception requested is the minimum exception which would alleviate the
need; and (d) the need for an exception is not the result of the action of the owner or previous owner.

A grid map of the cemetery's lots is kept in the office of the finance director and by the Oak Grove
Cemetery authority and can be changed at any time to meet future burial needs and earlier burials as
long as no burials are disturbed.

The cemetery authority, under proper notification of city manager or finance director, may be required
to suspend these rules and regulations for a stated time period during a declared emergency event.

After July 1, 2025, cremation lots will only be available in the cremation park section of the cemetery.
A filing fee for the deed shall be added to the cost of the cremation Iot, and each deed shall be
recorded by the City of St. Marys at Camden County Records, and the recorded deed shall be mailed
to the purchaser. Columbarium niches for urns containing ashes or a cemetery section devoted to
scattering ashes are not presently available. Should they become available in the future, specific
focations and prices will be determined by the city council.

No coping, corner markers, or monuments may be placed on the surface of a burial lot until the lot has
been paid for in full. Any permanent statue, sculpture, or figurine placed on a cemetery lot must be
approved by the cemetery authority. Photographs or drawings of such structures may be submitted
for approval in advance of purchase. Such figures must be tasteful and not depreciate the value of the
surrounding cemetery lots.

The base of the container of ashes in cremation burials shall rest at least two feet below the surface of
the soil.

Containers which do not provide proper drainage are not permitted to be left in the cemetery. This
includes glass vases, birdbaths, bottles, full bottles of alcoholic beverages, and beverage cans.

Page 7 of 10

Created: 2025-65-28



=

O o~NO Uk WKN

[EE G Gy
N = O

13

14
15
16
17

18

19

20
21

22
23

24

25
26
27
28

29

30
31

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA

Sec. 30-10. Fee schedule.

(a) The City of St. Marys, by separate fee ordinance, does hereby adopt the cemetery fee schedule with the
price of lots or niches, and the fee for scattering of ashes.

(1) A copy of the fee ordinance was adopted and approved by city council is on file at the city clerk's office
and in the office of the finance department.

{2) A portion amounting to at least one-half of the income from each lot sale shall be set aside in a trust
fund account administered by the cemetery authority in an account maintained by the city finance
department for the maintenance and preservation of the cemetery.

(b)  All payments shall be made to the City of St. Marys, 418 Osborne Street, St. Marys, Georgia, 31558.

(c)  Afiling fee for the deed shall be added to the cost of the burial lot and each deed shall be recorded at the
Camden County Courthouse by the burial ot purchaser at the sole expense and timing of the purchaser with
copy of recorded deed returned to the city for reference. Unrecorded deeds will not be honored by the city.

Sec. 30-11. Insurance requirement for vendors working within the cemetery.

(a)  Prior to any funeral director or monument company opening a lot for burial, or setting a head stone, corner
stone, slabs, bases or any other placement of monument ornamentals, a certificate of insurance naming the
City of St. Marys and Oak Grove Cemetery as additional insured ATIMA, shall be provided by all vendors and
funeral directors prior to being allowed to enter the cemetery for any and all work related purposes.

(b)  Insurance must be provided by A-rated carriers with limits of liability no less than shown below:

$2,000,000.00 General Aggregate
$1,000,000.00 Products Completed
Operations
$1,000,000.00 Each Occurrence
$5,000.00 Medical Expenses

(c)  Vendors and funeral directors must also provide a Georgia Cemetery and Funeral Services Act Bond
(Merchandise Dealers Bond) in an amount no less than $25,000.00.

(d)  Proof of insurance to the City of St. Marys must be updated annually with new certificates of insurance.
Deliver by U.S. Mail or by hand to the planning and building department.

Sec. 30-12. Indigent citizens.

A burial lot shall be made available for the interment of indigent individuals, as that term is defined in
0.C.G.A. § 36-12-1 et seq., who are bona fide residents of the City of St. Marys or patients of facilities located in
the City of St. Marys at the time of death, and the city manager shall make application to the Camden County
Board of Commissioners, pursuant to 0.C.G.A. § 36-12-5, for reimbursement for the cost of the burial lot.

Sec. 30-13. Penalty for violation of chapter.

Violation of these rules, regulations and prohibitions, upon conviction, shall be punished as provided in
section 1-12.

Created: 2025-85-28
Page 8 of 10



[IEN

WO o [e2 BN, ] B wN

[ErgyY
[ )

[
w N

=
Y

15

16
17
18

19
20
21

22

23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GA

Sec. 30-14. Handling of cremations in Oak Grove Cemetery.

(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)

(e)

(f)

As of July 1, 2025, one adult-sized plots located throughout the cemetery may be purchased at the regular
price and used for the interment of no more than one set of cremains. Two cremation burials will be
allowed in adult-sized lots purchased before July 1, 2025.

As of July 1, 2025, all other cremation burials will take place in the cremation park located near the
southwest corner of Oak Grove Cemetery.

An inurnment bench may be placed only with the consent of the Oak Grove Cemetery Authority.

An adult-size lot for the purpose of holding a single inurnment bench to hold one set of cremains will sell
for the same price as an adult interment plot. Such a bench shall be made of marble or granite, will be
placed in the center of the lot, and will be used in place of any other memorial. An inurnment bench must
fit within the required size limit of a regular Oak Grove lot.

The City of St. Marys, by separate fee ordinance, does hereby adopt an administration fee for each
placement of ashes in an inurnment bench.

Only a licensed monument company or its contractors may open and reseal an inurnment bench.

Section 30-15 Balloon Releases in Cemetery

(a)

(b)

It shall be unlawful for any person to intentionally release, organize the release of, or intentionally
cause to be released one or more balloons inflated with a gas that is lighter than air in Oak Grove
Cemetery.

Any person who shall violate or fail to comply with the provisions of this section shall be charged with
such violation, tried in municipal court, and upon being found guilty shall be fined $100.00 for the first
offense and $500 for each subsequent offense.

SECTION 30-16: Cemetery Tours and Special Events

(a)

(b)
(c)

Any special activity or event on cemetery property must be approved in advance by the Oak Grove
Cemetery Authority and the City Manager. Permissible activities include, but are not limited to,
memorial services, weddings, monument unveiling ceremonies, educational, historical, or cultural
awareness tours, public recognition ceremonies, religious events, family or church gatherings,
photography, nature appreciation, conservation, beautification, or cemetery improvement activities.
The City has the discretion to exclude tours and special events from any portion of any cemetery.
Interment services shall have priority over tours, special activities, and events in all cemeteries. Tours
may be prohibited from areas with open graves or funeral services, and groups may be asked to move
or leave an area where interment services are scheduled.

Created: 2025-95-28

Page 9 of 10



WO oo NV WNBRE

[
BWNRE O

15
16

17
18

19

20
21

(d)
(e)

(f)

(h)

(i)

()

ST. MARYS CITY COUNCIL
ST. MARYS, GA

Cemetery tours may be conducted between the hours of 7:30 AM and 7:00 PM or sunset, whichever is
earliest, seven days a week, by walking only unless a wheelchair is necessary.

Athletic events, treasure hunting, scavenger hunting, loud gatherings, and other activities or events
determined to be offensive, sacrilegious, disrespectful, or disruptive to the dignity and character of the
cemetery will not be permitted.

Any tour vehicles marked as haunted or involving ghosts are strictly prohibited from the cemetery.

The tour guide or group organizer shall immediately report any damage to trees, shrubbery, turf, coping, lot
markers, roadways, or structures caused by a vehicle or guests of the tour/activity to the city finance
director. The tour company or group organizer will be responsible for compensating the City for any
damages caused to City property.

Alcohol of any type is strictly prohibited from cemetery grounds. Person(s) caught with alcohol and/or
intoxicated persons will be asked to leave the cemetery. Guides, organizers, or agency representatives
condoning such behavior on cemetery property may be subject to a suspension of services on cemetery
grounds.

Each tour or activity must provide its own means of waste disposal. No garbage is to be left on cemetery
property. Cigarette butts are undesirable waste and are not to be littered or left on cemetery property.

Tour service vehicles over twenty-five (25) feet in length shall park on the city right-of-way outside of the
cemetery only.

Sec. 30-17. Violations

Any individual or organization that habitually violates the cemetery rules and regulations shall be prohibited

from holding future tours or events in the cemetery.

Created: 2025-85-28

Page 10 of 10



CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 16, 20235

TITLE: OAK GROVE CEMETERY CREMATION PARK FEES
PURPOSE: Set fee schedule for Oak Grove Cemetery Cremation Park
RECOMMENDATION: Approval

HISTORY/ANALYSIS:

The recommended prices for lots in the Oak Grove Cemetery Cremation Park are shown below
and will become effective upon the adoption of the fees:

Proposed
Cremation Lot Fee
St. Marys Resident S 932
|Camden Co Resident S 1,406
|
|Out of County S 2,372

*Includes a $50 Administrative Fee
Out of State should not be allowed
Long-term city employees working for the city for more

than 15 years would be entitled to resident price
Proposed prices are 50% of the price of a standard burial iot.

Department
Director:

City

Manager:




CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 16, 2026

TITLE: Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Camden County and St. Marys
for Employee Health Clinic

PURPOSE: The proposed MOU will permit the City of St. Marys to continue
participating in the Camden County Employee Onsite Health Clinic for FY26

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends approval

HISTORY:

City Council previously authorized a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between
the City of St. Marys and Camden County for participation in the Camden County Onsite
Employee Health Clinic. Under the attached MOU, billing is determined on a pro-rata
basis.

Camden County has calculated that the City accounts for 16.77% of the clinic's total
utilization. The estimated operating cost for FY26 is $659,958, which includes all
expenses associated with the clinic. Based on the City's pro-rata usage, the total annual
payment for FY26 will be $110,674.95, representing a slight annual decrease of $524
from FY25. Camden County will review the utilization formula quarterly and provide
updates to the City reflecting actual usage and any resulting payment adjustments.

The attached MOU authorizes the City’s continued participation in the onsite health
clinic. Either party may terminate the agreement with a minimum of 30 days’ written
notice.

Departmen
Director:

City

Manager:




COUNTY OF CAMDEN

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
ESTABLISHING A COOPERATIVE PARTNERSHIP
BETWEEN THE CAMDEN COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
AND THE CITY OF ST. MARYS, GEORGIA
FOR THE PROVIDING OF ONSITE CLINICAL MEDICAL SERVICES
BY CAMDEN COUNTY TO EMPLOYEES OF THE CITY OF ST. MARYS

This Memorandum of Understanding (herein after the “MOU”) between the
Camden County Board of Commissioners (herein after the “CCBC”) and the City of St.
Marys, Georgia (herein after the “CITY”); entered into thisthe  dayof ___ 2025
for providing of clinical medical services by Camden County for the employees of the
City of St. Marys for the period starting July 1, 2025 and continuing through June 30,
2026 as defined and as agreed to as set forth herein:

1.

WHEREAS the CCBC and the CITY are lawful governments as envisioned by
Georgia Law.

2.

WHEREAS the CCBC is a self-insured body for the purposes of providing health
insurance benefits to CCBC’s employees; and the CITY has purchased a health insurance
policy for the purposes of providing health insurance benefits to CITY’s employees.

3.

WHEREAS both CCBC and CITY desires to manage their employer provided
health insurance costs in the most economical manner.

4.

WHEREAS CCBC has an established onsite medical clinic to provide a wellness
program for employees in an attempt to reduce health insurance costs for CCBC. The
clinic is at 701 Charles Gilman Jr. Avenue, Suite B, Kingsland, Georgia.



5.

WHEREAS CCBC has contracted with a local Georgia licensed physician, a
nurse practitioner, and a Clinic Director/RN to oversee and provide medical services for
CCBC’s employees at the afore-stated clinic in an effort to reduce costs associated with

the self-insured program.
6.

WHEREAS CCBC and CITY have entered into discussions that have led to the
CITY and CCBC entering into this MOU which creates a cooperative partnership so as to
allow CITY’s employees to utilize the afore-stated clinic whereby the physician, nurse
practitioner, and the registered nurses will provide an onsite medical clinical treatment
program to CITY’s employees while performing the onsite medical clinical treatment
program for CCBC.

7.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED the CCBC and CITY hereby enters into
this MOU which establishes a cooperative partnership between the parties hereto for the
providing of onsite medical clinical services to the employees of the City of St. Marys
pursuant to the following terms.

a.

This MOU shall be effective upon the final approval by the CCBC (Camden
County Board of Commissioners) and CITY (the Council for the City of St. Marys,
Georgia) and entered upon the lawful minutes of each political body.

b.

Operational dates of this MOU shall be effective on July 1, 2025, upon final
approval by CCBC and CITY, and shall continue until either party provides proper
notification for termination. Either CCBC or the CITY may terminate this MOU at any
time by informing the other party in writing 30 days prior to the termination of the
agreement which shall be delivered to the County Administrator for CCBC or the City
Manger for the CITY.

c.

CCBC shall establish the medical clinics hours of operation as stated herein
below; and shall have sole authority for the retaining of the afore-said professional
medical services for this MOU and the clinic; the location and hours of operations shall

be:

1. Staff will be available during set operational hours.



d.

In the forming of this cooperative partnership the CCBC and the CITY shall each
be responsible for the total clinic operations cost on a pro-rata basis pursuant to the
following formula.

CCBC has determined the estimated budgeted operating cost for CCBC’s Fiscal
Year 2025-2026 be $659,958. This budgeted amount is to cover any and all expenses
associated with the onsite clinic (physician, physician’s assistant, registered nursing staff,
malpractice liability insurance premiums, non-medical staff, medical supplies,
medications, and the utility and maintenance costs to operate the clinic).

It has further been determined that the CITY utilized the onsite medical clinic for
CCBC’s Fiscal year 2024-2025 for a pro-rated use percentage of 16.7% of the total
operating costs for the afore-stated fiscal budget year.

It is hereby agreed and consented to by the parties hereto that the CITY shall pay
to CCBC 16.7% of the afore-stated $659,958 budget, conditioned on the CITY use of the
clinical services not exceeding the projected 16.7% use of the clinic for 2025-2026 Fiscal
Budget Year.

CITY shall pay to CCBC the total annual amount of $110,674.95 for medical
services provided by the CCBC’s onsite clinic to the CITY. Said annual amount shall be
paid in 12 monthly installments of $9,222.91. CITY shall pay CCBC for the monthly
installment payment by the 10® day of each month for the services performed in the
previous month starting with July 1, 2025.

The aforesaid formula for payment of clinical services provided to the CITY shall
be reviewed by CCBC on a quarterly basis in an effort to keep the CITY informed of the
percentage of clinical services provided and costs so associated with the provided
services in comparison to the funding so allocated for the onsite clinic operations. Upon
review of the quarterly reports, the CITY shall be notified by the CCBC of the actual
costs and utilization as well as any differential in pay.

The quarterly reviews are for the periods of July 1, 2025 to September 30, 2025;
October 1, 2025 to December 31, 2025; January 1, 2026 to March 31, 2026; and April 1,
2026 to June 30, 2026. The completed quarterly review shall be presented by the CCBC
to CITY on or before the 20th day of the month following the quarter just completed.



€.

CITY will be notified by CCBC in a timely manner of a change in clinic’s hour of
operation so that the CITY s employees may schedule their time to meet with the health
care providers. Representatives of the CCBC’s Human Resources Department and the
CITY’s Human Resources Department shall meet as needed to work out clinic schedules
as necessary.

f.

This MOU does not establish an employer/employee relationship between CITY’s
employees and CCBC.

g.

CITY agrees to hold harmless and indemnify CCBC from any damages, liability,
actions, claims, or demands that may arise within the scope of this MOU in regards to
CITY s agents, servants, employees, invitees, or licenses arising out of this MOU during
the term of this MOU.

h.
The services as defined herein shall only be provided to those CITY employees
that are currently enrolled in the CITY s employer provided health insurance program.

City shall provide to CCBC a list of currently enrolled employees in CITY’s employer
provided health insurance program as may be amended from time to time.

Hereby agreed to by the parties hereto on the date as approved:

This dayof 2025

Ben L. Casey, Chairman
Camden County Board of Commissioners

ATTEST:
Kathryn Bishop, County Clerk

This day of 2025

Greg Lockhart, Mayor
ATTEST:
City Clerk, St Marys, GA




CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 16, 2025

TITLE: Esplanade Boulevard Construction Project

PURPOSE: To award a contract for the construction of the City’s portion of
Esplanade Boulevard to Vallencourt Construction Company for the amount of
$2,313,078.98.

RECOMMENDATION: Approval.

HISTORY/ANALYSIS: As part of the Developer’s Agreement with Raydient,
the City is required to construct a section of Esplanade Boulevard. The City
contracted with ETM, Inc. for the design of the roadway and improvements for this
roadway. Once designed, the project was advertised for bids with a bid opening
date of June 5, 2025. The City received 6 bids on this project but one was deemed
invalid due to no Bid Bond being supplied with the bid as required. The 5 bids
received for this project were:

Vallencourt Construction Company $2,313,078.98

Reeves Construction Company $2,989,487.26
Jax Utilities Management, Inc. $3,049,900.00
Petticoat-Schmitt Civil Contractors $3,065,000.00
The Scruggs Company $3,276,821.37

The engineering estimate from ETM, Inc. for this project was $5,011,997.00, but
included Landscaping and Irrigation which were removed from the project. These
items will be supplied, installed and maintained by Taylor Morrison of Georgia,
LLC per the attached correspondence.

The bids were reviewed by Volkert, Inc., ETM, Inc., and City staff and all
recommend that the project be awarded to Vallencourt Construction Company as
the lowest responsive, responsible bidder.

Attached is a copy of the bid tabulation for this project, the bid from Vallencourt

Construction Company, the correspondence from Tayor Morrison of Georgia, LLC
and the recommendations from Volkert and ETM.

Department Director: 2 %
City Manager: /g// /




Volkert, Inc

6622 Southpoint Dr S #350, Jacksonville, FL 32216

Date: June 10, 2025

To: Bobby Marr, Public Works Director
City of St Marys, GA

Ref: City of St Marys GA, Esplanade Boulevard Project (aka Phase 1-A Entry Road Project)

Please accept this letter as a formal recommendation to The City of St. Marys, GA to award the
Esplanade Boulevard project to Vallencourt Construction Company. We found Vallencourt
Construction to be the low bidder, along with being a responsive and responsible bidder.

On Thursday, June 05, 2025, bids were received for the Esplanade Boulevard project. A total of
5 bids were received ranging from $2,313,078.98 to $3,276,821.37. The lowest bidder was
Vallencourt Construction for a bid amount of $2,313,078.98.

Upon our review of the bids received on June 05, 2023, for the above-referenced project, it was
found that all five (5) bids were submitted by qualified contractors. See the table below.

Petticoat- Reeves Vallenco -
. R The Scruggs 2 t.th JAX Utilities
Schmitt Civil Construction Construction
Company Management
Contractors Company Company

$ 2,989,487.26

$ 3,276,821.37

$ 2,313,078.98

$ 3,049,900.00

$ 3,065,000.00

It is our recommendation that the low responsive bidder listed below be accepted and an award
made at the City’s earliest opportunity.

Vallencourt Construction Company with a bid amount of $2,313,078.98
Please let us know if any additional information is required at this time.

Sincerely.

X Bl Powel

Bill Powell
Operations Manager




E I I I I ENGLAND-THIMS & MILLER 14775 Old St. Augustine Road, Jacksonwille, FL 32258
etminc.com | 904.642.8950

June 10, 2025

Mr. Bobby Marmr

Public Works Director
City of St. Marys

819 Point Peter Drive

St. Marys, Georgia 31558

Re: Esplanade Blvd. (Phase IA Access Road)
Recommendation of Award for Invitation to Bid to Vallencourt Construction Company

Mr. Marr:

Pursuant to your request and upon review of the submitted bids on the above reference project,
please allow this letter to the City of St. Marys to serve as ETM’s recommendation of award for the
Esplanade Blvd bid to Vallencourt Construction Company. This recommendation is based upon our
review of the bid and evaluation of Vallencourt's submittal as the lowest responsive and responsible

bid.

| am available as needed to discuss.
Respectfully submitted,

Buckley K. Williams
Executive Vice President / Shareholder

Jacksonville | Orando | Gainesville | Tampa




Esplanade Blvd (Phase 1A Access Rd) Project

INVITATION TO BID
Tabulation Form

June 5, 2025 3:00 pm

©etricoat ~Schmitt Cu) Contmeh

Company Name Bid Amount Bid Bond
| N ~
Fowerss n&m&@uﬁa@_ c— No

’; o6 5 000, v v

1\ Nencourt Canstrachon
TThe Sceuggs Compan .

, 315, 076. 98

‘5 z—:e R 2.3

ey Uil es Mana mmgnif lac.. |

R-QQ\)Q} Con c‘h\a cteon Gmpfmu

_g, O kf‘?,qoo,@o
-

2,939, 487,26

%
v
v
4




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE 1A ACCESS RD.) PROJECT
Bid Form

PROPOSAL
(Official Bid Form)

FOR

Esplanade Bivd.
{Phase IA Access Road)

FOR

City of St. Marys

TO BE SUBMITTED TO:

City of St. Marys '
C/O ENGLAND-THIMS & MILLER, INC. :
14775 Old St. Augustine Road
Jacksonville, FL 32258

on or before June 5, 2025 @ 3:00 P.M.

TO: City of St. Marys
FROM: Va“in(.ow-\' C,ong-l—r“,}.\m Co”\pah;’ ‘
(Contractor) 7

tn accordance with the Request for Proposals for Esplanade Blvd. the undersigned proposes to construct all work
necessary to install a complete roadway system including but not limited to clearing, earthwork, paving, drainage, utilities,
landscape, hardscape, erosion, sedimentation and poilution contro! and signing and pavement marking as shown on the
plans released for bid dated May 2025, and the Geotechnical Reports prepared by CSI Geo, inc. and in accordance with
the City of St. Marys, GDOT and GPED Standard Specifications and the USACE permit.

All proposais shall be for complete work in accordance with the construction plans. (No padtiat bids accepted.)




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE IA ACCESS RD.) PROJECT
Bid Form

BID SUMMARY
BASE BID - LUMP SUM
PART ONE - ROADWAY AND DRAINAGE

Item No. and Description TOTAL
A, ROADWAY

A.1 MOBILIZATION 4 $59,334.31
A.2 TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION OFFICES $0

A.3 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC 50

A.4 CLEARING AND GRUBBING 5 $33,661.45
A.5 EARTHWORK §5208,514.62
A.6 ROADWAY CONSTRUCTION 5 $577,950.95
A.7 HIGHWAY SIGNING §$44,627.23
A.8 ROADWAY MARKING $0

A.9 PREVENTION, CONTROL, AND ABATEMENT OF 5 524,289.00

EROSION AND WATER POLLUTION

SUBTOTAL ROADWAY (ITEMS A.1-A.9) § $948,377.56
B. DRAINAGE
B.1 STORM DRAINAGE COLLECTION AND CONVEYANCE ~ $5129,810.28
B.2 UNDERDRAIN TYPE 1 (CONTINGENCY) $$70,220.00
B.3 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY $$203,438.52
SUBTOTAL DRAINAGE (ITEMS B.1 - B.3) $ $403,468.80

TOTAL PART ONE (ITEMS A-B) — LUMP SUM

$$1,351,846.36

40,066,435




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE 1A ACCESS RD.) PROJECT
Bid Form

PART 1. ROADWAY AND DRAINAGE

A. ROADWAY

A.1 MOBILIZATION

Includes all preparatory work and operations in mobilizing for beginning work on the project, including, but not limited
to, those operations necessary for the movement of personnel, equipment, supplies, and incidentals to the project site
and for the establishment of temporary offices (Contractor's), buildings, safety equipment and first aid supplies, and
sanitary and other facilities. Includes the costs of any required insurance and any other preconstruction expense
necessary for the start of the work, excluding the cost of construction materials. Al pre-construction and construction
survey costs are included in the mobilization. All costs associated with managing allowances included inthis Bid Form
(including schedule coordination and Bidder's project management cosis) and the use of Trimble e-Builder cloud-
based management software are included in the mobilization.

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM A.1:
$ $59’334'31 (Nurnerals)

Fifty Nine Thousand Three Hundred Thirty Four Dollars and Thirty One Cents

(Written)

A.2 TEMPORARY CONSTRUCTION OFFICES

includes all costs associated with constructing a field office in accordance with the plans and specifications
for the duration of the project. If this item is not provided. Bidder shall annotate below bid price at zero (0)

dollars.
TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM A.2:
$ 0 {Numerals)
No Dollars and No Cents (Written)
A.3 MAINTENANCE OF TRAFFIC

Includes all costs associated with implementing the Maintenance of Traffic Plan as depicted on the plans and in
accordance with the GDOT requirements, including but not limited to:
FLAGGERS
WORK ZONE SIGNS
BARRICADE (TEMPORARY) (TYPES LII,.VP & DRUM)
BARRICADE (TEMPORARY) (TYPE Ill) (6
PANELS ARROW ADVANCE WARNING
TEMPORARY LIGHTING
TEMPORARY PIPE
TEMPORARY PAVEMENT
MARKER PAVT REFLECTIVE (TEMPORARY)
PAVT MARKING TEMPORARY PAINT
PAVT MARKING REMOVABLE
PAVT MARKING REMOVABLE (RPM)
ACCESS FOR RESIDENCES AND BUSINESSES
COORDINATION WITH EMERGENCY SERVICE PROVIDERS
FENCE AND GATE MAINTENANCE



ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE IA ACCESS RD.) PROJECT

Bid Form
SUB TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM A_5(b):
$ $105.600.00 {(Numerals)
One Hunred Five Thousand Dolars and Na Cents (Written)

TOTAL LUMF SUM PRICE ITEM A.5 (A.5(a) + A.5(b)):

$ 520851462 {Numerals})
Twa Hundred Eight Thousand Five Hundred Fourteen Ooltars and Sixty Two Cents {\Wiritten)
A.6 ROADWAY CONSTRUCTION

Includes all material, labor and equipment to construct roadways as shown on the plans and in accordance with
project specifications. This item of work includes but is not limited to:

STABILIZED SUBGRADE VALLEY GUTTERS
GRADED AGGREGATE BASE CITY STANDARD CURB AND GUTTER
SUPERPAVE ASPHALT CONCRETE TYPE C CURB
ASPHALT CONCRETE FRICTION COURSE  MIAMI CURB AND GITTER
BEDDING SAND CURB RAMP DETECTABLE SURFACE
CONCRETE SIDEWALK
CONCRETE PAVERS
CLASS NS CONCRETE
CONCRETE APRON
TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICEITEM A6:
$ $577,950.95 (Numerals)
Five Hundred Seventy Seven Thousand Nine Hundred Filty Dailars and Ninety Five Cenls (Wﬁﬂen)

A.7 HIGHWAY SIGNING

includes all roadway signing complete as shown on the plans and in accordance with Georgia Department of
Transportation, and City of St. Marys Specifications. item includes but is not limited to:

SIGN PANEL

SINGLE POST SIGN
REMOVE/RELOCATE EXISTING SIGNS
SIGN FOUNDATIONS

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM A.7-
% $20,000.00 (Numerals)

Twenty Thousand Dollars and No Cents (Written)




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE IA ACCESS RD.) PROJECT
Bid Form

B. DRAINAGE

Includes the complete storm drainage system, including all dewatering, structures, pipes and spillways. Includes
removal, replacement and disposal of any unsuitable material encountered in the regular excavation and all other
work necessary to complete the installation. [ncludes backfill and compaction as required by the contract
documents and the City of St. Marys. ltem includes but is not limited to:

B.1 STORM COLLECTION AND CONVEYANCE

PIPE
INLETS

MANHOLES

ENDWALLS

MITERED END SECTIONS

UNDERDRAIN TYPE 1 (AS DETAILED ON PLANS)

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM B.1:
$ $1 29’81 0.28 (Numerals)

One Hundred Twenty Nine Thousand Eight Hundred Ten Dollars and Twenty Eight Cents

{Written)
B.2 UNDERDRAIN TYPE 1 (CONTINGENCY)
Basis of Bid shall be two thousand (2,000) If at $ 32.11 /If.
TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE TEM B.2: -
$ $70,220.00 (Numerals)
Seventy Thousand Two Hundred Twenty Dollass and No Cents (Written) |

B.3 STORMWATER MANAGEMENT FACILITY CONSTRUCTION

Includes alt costs associated with the stormwater management facility construction not included in other bid
items. Work includes, but is not limited to, dewatering, excavation, grading, installation of cut off walls, finishing
grading, installation of all sed, etc.

EXCAVATION REGULAR EXCAVATION SUBSOIL
STOCKPILING EXCESS MATERIAL DISPERSION PONDS
EMBANKMENT STRIPPINGS

TOPSOIL (GRASSING OPERATIONS) SOD

CONTROL STRUCTURES OUTFALL BITCHES

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE iTEM B.3:
; $203,438.52

Two Hundred Three Thousand Four Hundred Thirty Eight Dollars and Fifty Two Cents

(Numerails)

(Written)




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE IA ACCESS RD.) PROJECT
Bid Form

PART THREE - LANDSCAPE & IRRIGATION

A. LANDSCAPE

Includes all costs of material, labor and equipment for providing landscaping as shown on the plans and in
accordance with project specifications, This ifem shall nof include sodding required under Stormwater
Managemsnt Facility Construction (ltem B.3). Includes:

INSTALLATION OF PLANT SCHEDULE - TREES, SHRUBS, GROUND COVER, SOD/SEED, MULCH
SITE PREPARATION

WATERING

FERTILIZER

MOWING & EDGING

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM A:

$ 0 {Numerals)
No Dollars and No Cents (Writtan)

B. IRRIGATION

Bidder shall be responsible for establishing a permanent irrigation system to provide 100% head-to-head coverage for
all materials. System shall be installed in accordance with project plans and specifications. It is anticipated that the
existing water main will be the source of this irrigation system. Includes all costs of material, labor and equipment for
providing a functioning irrigation system from beginning to end, including but not limited to all meter fees and
installation costs and costs for temporary irrigation during establishment period.

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM B:

$ 0 (Numerals)
No Dollars and No Cents (Written)

B. LIGHTING ALLOWANCE

The costs assaciated with the installation of roadway lighting and pedestrian trail lighting shall be included in this
allowance. Bidder shallbe responsible for establishing a fuil and functioning lighting system, as approved by Owner,
utilizing bid quotes (minimum three) based on Owner’s design.

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM B:

$ 125,000.00 (Numerats)

One Hundred and Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars and 00/100 {Written)




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE IA ACCESS RDb.) PROJECT
Bid Form

D. BONDING

D.1 PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE BOND
Cost of providing payment and performance bond in accordance with project specifications.

SUB TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM D.1:
$ $1 6,83072 {Numerais}

Sixteen Thousand Eight Hundred Thirty Dollars and Seventy Two Cents (Witten)

D.2 WARRANTY BOND

Cost of providing a wamanty bond for the praject in accordance with Cily of St. Marys requirements.

SUB TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM D.2:
$ $5‘61 0.24 {Numerals}

Five Thousand Six Hundred Ten Dollars and Twenty Four Cents (Written)

TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICEITEM D {(D.1 + D.2):
$ $22,44096 (Numerals)

Twenty Two Thousand Four Hundred Forty Dollars and Ninety Six Cents (Witten)

E. AS-BUILTS
E.1 ROADWAY/DRAINAGE AS-BUILTS
Cost of providing ALL as-builts for Roadway, Drainage, Stormwater Pond and all sleeves in accordance

with project specifications. Excludes the preparation and submittal of all water main, force main, gravity
sanitary sewer as-builts as required by the City of St. Marys and GEPD.

SUB TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM E.1:
3 $4'000'00 {Numerals)

Four Thousand Dollars and No Cents (Written)

E.2 UTILITY AS-BUILTS

Cost of providing ALL as-builts for the preparation and submittal of all water main, force main, gravity
sanitary sewer as-builts as required by the City of St. Marys and GEPD.

SUB TOTAL LUMP SUM PRICE ITEM E.2:

$ $3'31 0.65 (Numerals}

Three Thousand Three Hundred Ten Dollars and Sixty Five Cents .
(Written)




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE 1A ACCESS RD.) PROJECT
Bid Form

In case the bidder is given in writing by mail, telegraph, email or delivery the Notice of Acceptance of the Bid Propasal within ninety
(90} days after the time for the opening of bids, the undersigned agrees to execute within ten (10) calerdar days a Contract, (Form of
Agreement between Contractor and Owner) for the work for the above-stated compensation and at the same time furnish and deliver
to the Owner Certificate of Insurance, and Contractor Certification forms in accordance with the instruction bound in the Project
Contract and Technical Specifications.

The vndersigned agrees to commence actual physical work on the site with an adequate force and equipment within ten (10) calendar
days from the date to be specified in the Notice to Proceed from the Owner and to complete the construction within 90 consecutive
calendar days after Notice to Proceed. It is also agreed that 0 days are included in the specified contract time for adverse weather days

as per Article of the Apreement.

The undersigned agrees that this Bid may not be revoked or withdrawn after the time is set for the opening of bids but shall remain
open for acceptance for a period of ninety (90) calendar days following such time.

I certify that this offer is made without prior understanding, agreement, or connection witl any corporation, firm, or person
submitting o proposal for the samte materials, supplies, equipment, or services and is in all respects fair and without collusion or
Sraud. I understand collusive bidding is q violation of State and Federal Law and can result in fines, prison sentences, and civil
damage awards. I agree to abide by all conditions of the proposal and certify that I ant autherized to sign this proposal for the
proposer. 1 further certify that the provisions of the Official Code of Georgia Annetated, Sections 45-10-20 et. seq., have not been
vielated and will not be vielated in any respect.

This Bid Proposal is respectfully submitted by:

Vallencdiry LonStomeHe Ceh\'aow)

Bidder (Print Name)

%ﬂﬁ 7 Y Center Ghreet

Signavrua: (Twner, Pastner or Corp. Officer)
Green Gevt Spvingg . FL 32043
T = +

Address
MCE %ﬁ:bm ‘10‘!- 29/-130
Title Telephone Number

If Corporation, affix seal here (SEAL)




16)

17)

18)

19)

ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE 1A ACCESS RD.) PROJECT

All storm drainage must be maintained during construction. If this does not occur, the
Contractor will be responsible for any damage that may result.

The Contractor's attention is called to the attached Reports of Geotechnical Exploration
prepared by CSI Geo, Inc. All construction shall be completed in accordance with this
repori. The entire site is available to any proposer for surface or subsurface investigation.
In addition, the Geotechnical Exploration report identifies certain ground water depths.
The proposers are cautioned that these depths may not be representative of conditions as
they exist today and should be field verified.

PROPOSER accepts atl of the terms and conditions of the Invitation to Bid and
Instructions to Proposers, including without limitation those dealing with the disposition
of Bid Security. This Bid will remain subject to acceptance {or ninety (90) calendar days
after the day of Bid opening. PROPOSER will sign and deliver the required number of
counterparts of the Agreement with the Bonds and other documents required by the
Bidding Requirements within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date of OWNER'’s
Notice of Award.

In submitting this Bid, PROPOSER represent, as more fully set forth in the Agreement,

that:

{a) PROPOSER has visited the site and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the
general, local and site conditions that may affect cost, progress, performance and
furnishing of the Work.

() PROPOSER is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state and local Laws
and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, performance and fumnishing of the
Work.

{c) PROPOSER has carefully studied all reports of explorations and tests of subsurface
conditions at or contiguous to the site and all drawings of physical conditions in or
relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at or contiguous to the site
which have been identified in the Contract Documents. PROPOSER acknowledges
that OWNER and Engincer do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of information and data shown or indicated in the Bidding
Documents with respect to Underground Facilities at or contiguous to the site.
PROPOSER has obtained and carefully studied (or assumes responsibility for
having done so) all such additional or supplementary examinations, investigations,
explorations, tests, studies and data concerning conditions (surface, subsurface and
Underground Facilities) at or contiguous to the site or otherwise which may affect
cost progress, performance or furnishing of the Work or which relate to any aspect
of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be
employed by PROPOSER and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.
PROPOSER does not consider that any additional examinations, investigations,
explorations, tests, studies or data are necessary for the determination of this Bid
for performance and

1
4
[
f




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE 1A ACCESS RD.) PROJECT

22) Terms used in this Bid which are defined in the General Conditions, Supplementary
Conditions or Instructions will have the meanings indicated in the General Conditions,
Supplementary Conditions or Instructions.

We, the Undersigned, hereby declare that no person, persons, firm, or corporation, other than the
undersigned, are interested | this proposal as principals and that this Proposal is made without collusion
with any person, firn, or corperation.

CORPORATE/COMPANY
Company Name: Vellencourt  Canst racilon (cmpn hy (Seal)
Bvr_‘m_ $rar gf:f

(Name typed or printed}
By:@é pe—" C,ﬁj"*n Ro};e.;;-_

{Name typed or printed}

Address: L“'{" Center S‘i‘m*
(rresm Cave Springs , FL 32043

Telephone No.: @4 ) 291 - 9330 FaxNo.: ()

State Contractor License Number: L 30?2 41Y
Federal L.D. Tax Number:_ 3 9-2 Y63 082

INDIVIDUAL

Name:

{Signature) (Name typed or printed) (Title)

Address: —

Telephone No.: ( )

Federal §.D. Tax Number:




| Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America T
et Travelers Casualty and Sarety Company
TRAVELE R S J | St. Paul Fire and Marine Insg!'illoe Company

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS: That Travelers Casualty and Surety Company of America, Travelers Casualty and Surety Company, and
$t. Pad Fire and Marine Insurance Company are cofporations duly organized under the laws of ihe Stale of Connecticut (herein
collectively calied the “Companies”), and that the Companies do hereby make, constifute and appoint BENJAMIN K POWELL of
JACKSONVILLE . Florida . their tue and [awful Aftorney(s}-in-Fact to sign, execule, seal and
acknowledge any and all bonds, recognizances, conditional undentakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof on behalf of
the Companies in their business of guaranteeing the fidelity of persons, guaranteeing the performance of contracis and exeaudting or
guaranteeing bonds and undertakings required or pesmitted in any aclions or proceedings allowed by law.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Companies have caused this instrument to be signed, and their cerporate seals to be hereto affixed, this 21st day of April,

2021,
W,
&R
£ AL
SN
&
State of Connecticut
By:
City of Hartford ss. Roberl L. Raney; Senior Vice President

On this the 21st day of April, 2021, hefore me personally appeared Robert L. Raney, who acknowledged himself to be the Senior
Vice President of each of the Companies, and that he, as such, being authorized so to de, executed the foregoing instrument for the
purposes therein contained by signing on behalf of s2id Companies by himself as a duly authorized officer.

[N WITNESS WHEREOQF, | hereunto s&l my hand and official seal.
My Commission expires the 30th day of June, 2026

~" Anna P, Nowik, Notary Public

This Power of Attorney is granted under and by the authority of the following resolutions adopted by the Boards of Direclors of each of
the Companies, which resciutions are now in full force and eflect, reading as follows:

RESOLVED, that the Chaiwman, the Presideni, any Vice Chairman, any Executive Vice Presideni, any Senior Vice President, any Vice
President, any Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the Corporate Secretary or any Assistant Secietary may appoint
Altorneys-in-Fact and Agents to act for and on behalf of the Company and may give such appointee such awthority as his or her certificate of autharity
may prescribe to sign with the Company’s name and seal wilh the Company's seal bonds, recognizances, contracts of indemnity, and other writings
obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance, or conditional underiaking, and any of said officers or the Board of Directors at any fime may
remove any such appointee and revoke the power given him or her, and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Chairman, the President, any Vice Chairman, any Execulive Vice President, any Senior Vice President or
any Vice President may delegate all or any part of the foregoing authority to one or mare officers or employees of {his Company, provided
that each such delegation is in writing and a copy thereof is filed in the office of the Secretary; and il is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that any bond, recognizance, contract of indemnty, or writing obligatory in the nature of a bond, recognizance,
or conditional undertaking shall be valid and binding upon the Company when (a) signed by the President, any Vice Chaimman, any Executive
Vice President, any Senior Vice President or any Vice President, any Second Vice President, the Treasurer, any Assistant Treasurer, the
Corporate Secrefary or any Assistant Secretary and duly attested and sealed with the Company's seal by a Secretary or Assistant Secretary;
of (b} duly executed (under sea), if required) by one or more Altorneys-in-Fact and Agenis pursuant to the power prescribed in his or her
certificate or their cerlificates of authority or by one or more Company officers pursvant to a written delegation of authority; and it is

FURTHER RESOLVED, that the signature of each of the following officers: Presiden!, any Execufive Vice President, any Senior Vice President,
any Vice President, any Assistant Vice President, any Secretary, any Assistant Secretary, and the seal of the Company may be affixed by facsimile o
any Pawer of Aftorney or to any cerificate relating thereto appointing Resident Vice Presidents, Resident Assistant Secretaries or Attorneys-in-
Fact for purposes only of executing and attesting bonds and undertakings and other writings obligatory in the nature thereof, and any such Power of
Aftorney or cestificate bearing such facsimile signature or facsimile sesl shall be valid and binding upon the Company and any such power so executed
and certified by such facsimile signature and facsimile seal shall be valid and binding on the Company in the future with respect to any bond or

understanding to which it is attached.

I, Kevin E. Hughes, the undersigned. Assistant Secretary of each of the Companies. do hereby cerlify that the above and foreguoing is a
irue and correct copy of the Power of Atiorney executed by said Companies, which remains in full force and effect.

Dated this 3rd dayof June , W25 |

for & [l

¢ Kevin E. Hughes. Assistant Secretary

To verify the authenticity of this Power of Attormney, please call us at 1-800-421-3880.
Please refer to the above-named Attorney(s)-in-Fact and the details of the bond to which this Power of Attorney is altached.




INVITATION TO BID

CITY OF ST.MARYS

Phase 1A ACCESS RD. & ST. MARYS TAD 2
Esplanade Boulevard PROJECT

May 28, 2025 Addendum #1
O Are the CADD Files available pre-bid to contractors

» No. CADD files will be provided 1o the selected bidder once an award is
made by the city.

No change to the revised Bid Opening Date of June 5, 2025 at 3:00 PM

DESCRIPTION

This Addendum (signed and dated) to be included in the submittal.

vellencowrt  CingdracHo Gmpon
_

/0] 25. o525

Signed Date

T T e = Page 2 S




INVITATION TO BID

CITY OF ST.MARYS

PHASE 1A ACCESS RD. & ST. MARYS TAD 2 ;
Esplanade Boulevard PROJECT )

June 02, 2025 Addendum #3

TO ALL RESPONDERS:

You hereby informed that the Invitation to Bid for the above-mentioned Project is modified,
corrected and/or supplemented as follows and that Addendum #3 becomes a part of the bid
documents for the project.

1. Bidders are hereby advised that all landscaping and irrigation is removed from the bid
documents. Therefore, sheets LOGO through L.908 shall be excluded from the contract
plans. Under Part Three — Landscape & Irrigation, of the Bid Form, Bidders are
instructed to put Zero Dollars for A., Landscape, and B., Irrigation. The $125,000.00
Lighting Allowance line item, C., shall remain. Bidders shall refer to the plan sheets
issued in Addendum No. 1, specifically Sheet C10, which added Note Number 6 callouts
calling for strip sod (Bahia) behind curb and seed and mulch (Rye) typical.

PART THREE - LANDSCAPE & IRRIGATION

A LANDSCAPE

B. {RRIGATION s,

C. UGHTING ALLOWANCE s 125,000.00
TOTAL PART THREE (ITEMS A<C) s

2. Please refer to RF] response chart attached below and associated sheet C21

CAD files are niot available,

Could we get a copy of the CAD file for the subject unlocked PDFs were issued as
project? part of addendum 2.
r |
Will Builders Risk insuratice be required for this project? Na |

Norecycled concrete or

Is recycled concrete aggregate and/or limerock base
limerock base. Use Crusher Run

acceptable to be used as the 6” crush n run base for the
stabilized access road? |

- —_— Page 1 ==




Varcus Mclnarnay, iesident Bike Vallencourt II, Vics President

#ike Vallencourt Sr,, Chairman ’ J. Daniel Valiencourt, Vice Prasident

i 1-l-J-L.ENCOURT Stan Bates PE,, Vice Prosident

Construction Co. Inc.

List of Subcontractors

e Kudzue 3 Trucking
e Curb Systems of NE Florida
e Rogers Pavement Maintenance, Inc.

449 Center Streat, Green Cove Springs, F.32043 | (904)291-9330 | VALLENCOURT.COM




ESPLANADE BLVD. (PHASE IA ACCESS RD.) PROJECT

City of St Marys
Affidavit Verifying Status
For City Public Benefit Application
By executing this affidavit under cath, as an application for a City of St. Marys, Georgia Business License or
Occupation Tax Certificate, Alcohol License, Taxi Permit or other public benefit as referenced in 0.C.G.A,
Section 50-36-1, 1 am stating the following with respect to my application for:
[J  Business License
O Georgia Occupational Tax Certificate
| Alcohol License
" TaxiPermitor
BJ  Other public benefit
Please check one

Name: C E ay Lin R")‘eﬂ-

Name &f natttral person fpplying on behalf of individual, business, corporation, partnership, or other private entity

1. 1 am a United States citizen
OR
2. O 1ama legal permanent resident | 8 years of age or older or I am zn otherwise

qualified alien or non-immigrant under the Federal Immigration and Nationality
Act 18 years of age or older and lawfully present in the United States. *

In making the above representation under oath, I understand that any person who knowingly and wiilfully makesa
false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement or representation in an affidavit shall be guilty of a violation of the Code

Section 16-10-20 of the Official Code of Georgia.
[~ W £-<-28
Date

Signature of Applicant

SUBCRIBED AND SWORN [ty ton Reseys
BEFORE ME ON THIS THE Printed Name
loe DAY OF 7 2025

Alien Registration number for non-citizens

7

Notary Public Ao cildes

MARIA VALDES
Notary Public - State of Flericz
Commission = At 1850352

My Commission Expires: /z/ F / 25~ =" my Comm. Expiras Sec §. 2023
*Note: 0.C.G.A. § 50-36-1 (c)(2) requires thal aliens under the Federal mxgﬂlﬂﬁ"&ﬂmmmi UEEE"”H@@"&%"C as amended, provided
Lheir alien registration number. Because legal permanent residents are | " legal permanent residents
must alsa provide their alien regisiration number Qualified aliens that da not have an ahcn registration aumber may supply another identifying
number below:

Lo am e an ol




TaylorMorrison

TAYLOR MORRISON OF GEORGIA, LLC.
7785 Baymeadows Way
Jacksonville, FL 32256

May 30, 2025

City of St Marys
Public Works

418 Osborne St

St Marys, GA 31558

ATTN: Mr. Bobby Marr, Public Works Director

Subject: Esplanade Blvd - Landscaping

Dear Mr. Marr,

Per our discussions, Taylor Morrison will be responsible for installing landscaping and
irrigation for Esplanade Blvd from St Marys Rd, south to the Esplanade at St Marys property
boundary. The Esplanade at St Mary Homeowners Association will be responsible for
maintaining the installed landscape and irrigation system after installation.

Taylor Morrison of GA, LLC will also install 2a monument sign in the Boulevard Medianin a
design agreeable to the City of St Marys. Once constructed, ownership of the monument will
be turned over to the Esplanade at St Marys Homeowner Association that will maintain the
sign going forward.

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this agreement, please contact us at your
convenience.

Thank you.

Sincerely,

1 b~ %
. Tirif Sprott

( vjée President, Land
aylor Morrison of Georgia, LLC

taylor
maorrison , .,

Homes Insprad by You




CITY COUNCIL MEETING
DATE: June 16, 2025

TITLE: New City Hall Renovations Bid

PURPOSE: To reject the one bid received for the renovations to the new city hall
building.

RECOMMENDATION: Reject the bid.

HISTORY/ANALYSIS: Renovations for the new city hall building were
developed and the project put out to bid. Bids were due on May 29, 2025, and were
opened on that date at 2:00 pm. There was only one bid received for the project and
it was submitted by JOC Construction. The base bid for the project was
$7,455,000.00 and the total, including all three add alternates and allowance #1, was
$10,649,000.00.

Due to the submitted bid being higher than the estimated project cost, it is

recommended to reject the bid received and re-evaluate the project to determine
how to move forward.

Department Head: /M\
~ 7
e 27
City Manager: = : ="




Renovation & Modification for St Marys City Hall
INVITATION TO BID

Tabulation Form

May 29, 2025 2:00 pm

Company Name

Bid Amount

Bid ]}ond

FOC Coosiroction

Base Bid: b "‘7!&[5‘5,00()

Bid Alternate #1: Add: § | ’ N 47,000
1 {

Bid Alternate #2: Add: $ 1,134 00O
[ !

Bid Alternate #3: Add: $ 193 900

Allowance #1: $ Lo ;BQD

Total Bid Amount; $ }Q, Ln\kQIQGO




Renovation & Modification St. Marys City Hall 00120-1 of 2

Bid Proposal

BID PROPOSAL
CITY OF ST MARYS
418 OSBORNE STREET
ST MARYS, GA 31558

PROJECT TITLE: RENOVATION & MODIFICATION FOR ST. MARYS CITY HALL

DATE SUBMITTED; __May 29, 2025

Gentlemen:

Having carefully examined the Plans, Specifications, and other Contract Documents relating to
Renovation & Modification for St. Marys City Hall, Addendum No.(s) _1-3 _ , and Responses to
submitted Requests for Information, and also having carefully inspected the premises and the
conditions affecting the work, the undersigned hereby proposes and agrees to fumish all materials,
labor, skill, equipment, tools, and other things of every kind and description specified, needed or
used for the complete execution of all work covered by and in conformity with the afore said Plans,
Specifications, and other Contract Documents , and all Amendments and Addenda thereto, for the sums
hereinafter stated.

The undersigned agrees to provide all labor, materials, and equipment necessary to perform the

work described in the plans, specifications, addenda, etc., all of which comprise the project manual, in
accordance with the following bid schedule oD
Y

Base Bid: $ 7.455,000.
Bid Altemate #1:  Add: 8 1,147 poo . *

Bid Alternate #2:  Add: 8 \ 174 oop. 7

Bid Alternate #3:  Add: § |a%, voo, %%
oo
Allowance #1 5 B0, 000 . /).0‘
Total Bid Amount: $ 10, 644, op0 . 0O

The undersigned agrees that this Proposal may not be revoked or withdrawn after the time is set for the
opening of bids but shall remain open for acceptance for a period of sixty (60) calendar days following
such time.

In case the bidder is given in writing by mail, telegraph, or delivery the Notice of Acceptance of the Bid
Proposal within sixty (60) days after the time for the opening of bids, the undersigned agrees to execute
within ten (10) calendar days a Contract, (Form of Agreement between Contractor and Owner) for the
work for the above-stated compensation and at the same time furnish and deliver to the Owner a
Certificate of Insurance, and Contractor Certification forms in accordance with the instruction bound in
the Project Manual.

The undersigned agrees to commence actual physical work on the site with an adequate force and
equipment within ten (10) calendar days from the date to be specified in the Notice to Proceed from the
Owner and to be completed within time frame as negotiated with the City of St. Marys.



Renovation & Modification St. Marys City Hall 00120-2 of 2
Bid Proposal

o8
Enclosed herewith is a Bid Bond in the amountof 312 . 1 Go DOLLARS
(8 317 160 % ) being not less than 5% of the Base Bid. The Bid Bond must be submitted per
the information contained in the INSTRUCTIONS TO BIDDERS Section 00110,

If this Proposal is accepted within sixty (60) days after the date set for the opening of bids and the
undersigned fails to execute the Contract within ten (10) calendar days after receipt from the OWNER,

the obligation of the Bid

Bond will remain in full force and effect and the money payable there shall be paid into the funds of the
Owner as liquidated damages for such failure; otherwise, the obligation of the Bid Bond will be null and

void.

This Bid Proposal is respectfully submitted by:

M‘r’I‘T‘HEkJ N o alaA
Bidder (Print Name)

Vs

7
/Z/”"‘ 3050 Shallowford Road

Signatupé (Owner/Partner or Corp.
Officer)

Chamblee, GA 30341

Address

“Pees oent (0F%- 595- 6335

Title Telephone Number
i Wiy,
[f Corporation, affix seal here (SEAL) \\\\\\\\\;‘\ <TRUC 7{/’/1,%/
§ O ---------------- i I,’
§ . %
§U RPOR, I
g ((DJ oo?. T 2
S SEAL ©10%
Lo 2006 F §



Renovation & Modification St. Marys City Hall 00130-1 of 2

Bidder Qualifications

BIDDER'S QUALIFICATIONS

LEGAL NAME OF BIDDER:  JOC-Construction, LLC.
(Company)

STREET ADDRESS: __ 1954 Airport Rd, Suite 100, Chamblee, GA 30341

WHEN ORGANIZED: _ Qctoher 07, 2016
WHEN AND WHERE
INCORPORATED: _ Chamblee_Georgia
LICENSED OR REGISTERED TO DO BUSINESS IN STATE OF
GEORGIA: X YES NO

The foregoing statement of qualifications is submitted under cath:

Contractor and any Subcontractor shall list the appropriate License number(s) in compliance with the
Georgia State Licensing Board

Main Contractor's

License Number: GCI000365

Subcontractor #1 License

Name: Southern Asbestos Abatement Number: GA-EPD-RRP FIRM-10170
Subcontractor #2 License

Name: Number:

Subcontractor #3 License

Name: Number:

(List additional if

appropriate)

Contractor is “Certified to Conduct Georgia Regulated Lead-Based
Paint Renovation Activities: X YES NO

Contractor to submit current Georgia Certified Renovation Firm License (GA-EPD-RRP FIRM) and
Certification to Conduct Georgia Regulated Lead-Based Paint Restoration Activities ((GA-EPD-RRP-
6552).

Respectfully submitted, _
By: W%”'

’ ( Cl ¥ ’
Title;: _Matthew Noonan. éresident




Renovation & Modification St. Marys City Hall 00130-1 of 2

Bidder Qualifications

BIDDER'S QUALIFICATIONS

LEGAL NAME OF BIDDER:  JOC-Construction, LLC.
(Company)

STREET ADDRESS: ___1954 Airport Rd, Suite 100, Chamblee, GA 30341
WHEN ORGANIZED: _ (ctoher 07,2016

WHEN AND WHERE
INCORPORATED:
LICENSED OR REGISTERED TO DO BUSINESS IN STATE OF
GEORGIA: X __ YES NO

The foregoing statement of qualifications is submitted under oath:

Contractor and any Subcontractor shall list the appropriate License number(s) in compliance with the
Georgia State Licensing Board

Main Contractor's

License Number: GCI000365

Subcontractor #!1 License

Name: Southern Asbestos Abatement Number: GA-EPD-RRP FIRM-10170
Subcontractor #2 License

Name: Number:

Subcontractor #3 License

Name: Number:

(List additional if

appropriate)

Contractor is “Certified to Conduct Georgia Regulated Lead-Based
Paint Renovation Activities: X YES NO

Contractor to submit current Georgia Certified Renovation Firm License (GA-EPD-RRP FIRM) and
Certification to Conduct Georgia Regulated Lead-Based Paint Restoration Activities ((GA-EPD-RRP-
6552).

Respectfully submitted,
By: W”

Title: _Matthew Noonan re51dent




GEORGIA

DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTFCTION DIVISION
Richard E. Dunn, Direcior

4244 International Parkway, Suite 104
Atlanta, Georgia 30354

Georgia Certified Renovation Firm License

GA-EPD-RRP FIRM-10170

¥ a.&g’g
7y iy
2

Vr L

Doug Hagan

Owner/President

Having Satisfied the Requirements of The Georgiw Lead Poisoning Prevention Act, 0.C.G.A. 31-41-1,
et seq and the Rules for Lead-Based Paint Hazard Management, Chapter 391-3-24, The Above
Referenced Firm is Hereby Certified To Perform Lead-Based Paint Renovation Activities in the State

of Georgia. This License May Be Subject to Revacation, Suspension,

or Medification by the Director

for Cause Including Evidence of complignce.or I;"ﬂ;é’gy Misrepresentation Made in the

Application,Supporting Data or Subs, g

Failed to Maintain Required Records. lTl_zz'
and Trained Individuals When Congd

(]

,t; ; %}J"‘?:qls?gmeggd Therein or Attached Thereto, or
“Certification Igé,lt{ Plgrees 10 Use Only Georgia Certified
icting Geokgia Regula

7 ted Lead-Based Paint Renovation
Activifies Covered B@gﬁ License.

Issue Date

Expiration Date

4/18/2023

4/18/20286

Firm ID: GA-EPD-RRP FIRM-~10170

Gt Lo

Jennifer Vogel, Program Manager
Lead-Based Paint and Asbestos Program
(404) 363-7026

. Issued By:Kate Belsill

3




Renovation & Modification St. Marys City Hall 00130-2 of 2

Bidder Qualifications

By: MATTHEWS Nlagnrs
Tiﬂe:%| oENT

ee attached list
Atta(ﬁl a hast ofc Qm‘ﬁar projects completed within the last five years.

This Bid Proposal is respectfully submitted by:

Matthew Noonan
Bidder (Print Name)

Signature (Owner,’Partner or Corp.

et 15ARe T, CHHEF of SSTAFF
Officer)
1954 Airport Rd. Suite 100. Chamblee Ga 30341
Address
___President 678-595-6335
Title Telephone Number

If Corporation, affix seal here (SEAL)

W)

\\\\\\\\\“ T ””’Il iy,
o

o

o‘”\_s_... R UC); I’”//

U RPOR 7
Q o) 3

fo

{  SEAL

%, 2016
C‘-

L/
Ty,

7

l/,l
)

“ll[, 1y
R
W
W

.. Y
5m

R
‘\\\\\
o

™
“*
Ilfll"" it

-'.-

, GO..E-G-"‘.h \\\\\\\\\

it



Renovation & Modification St. Marvs City Hall 00140-1 of 1

Corporate Certificate

CORPORATE CERTIFICATE
I, _Betsy Babbit , certify that [ am the Secretary of the Corporation named as Contractor
in the foregoing bid; that _Matthew Noonan , who signed said bid in behalf of the Contractor,
was (Title) _President of said Corporation; that said bid was duly signed

for and in behalf of said Corporation by authority of its Board of Directors, and is within the scope of its

corporate powers; that said Corporation is organized under the laws of the State of _Georgia ]

Thisa%dayof May ,2025 .
““mmmm,,,

| SeTRUCTI Y,
U o, (G
V. e S57S L
Signarure? / FR 0 SEAL T g
3 on, 8 S §
,’Il’l/,, , .G\P“ \\‘\\\\




Renovation & Modification St. Mearvs City Hall 00150-1 of 3
Bid Bond

BID BOND REQUIREMENTS

No contract with the City of St. Marys, Georgia for work to be done shall be valid for any purpose unless
the Contractor shall give a Bid Bond with good and sufficient surety payable to, in favor of, and for the
protection of the City of St. Marys, Georgia. The Bid Bond shall be in the amount of not less than 5% of
the total amount payable by the terms of the Contract. No bid shall be read aloud or considered if a proper
Bid Bond has not been submitted.

Surety companies executing Bonds must appear on the Treasury Department’s most current list (Circular
570 as amended) and be authorized to transact business as a surety in Georgia,

Attestation for the corporation must be by the corporate officer; for a partnership by another partner; for an
individual by a notary with the corporate seal.



Renovation & Modification St. Marvs City Hall 00150-2 of 3

Bid Bond

SAMPLE

City of St. Marys, Georgia

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, _JOC Construction LLC, 3050 Shallowford Rd, Chamblee. GA 30341,

(Name of Contractar)
hereinafter called Principal, and _FCCI Insurance Company, 6300 University Parkway, Sarascta, FL 34240
(Name of Surety)
a Corporation of the State of _Fiorida , and a surety authorized by law to do business in the State of Georgia,

hereinafter called Surety, are held and firmly bound uato the City_of St. Marys. Georgia in the sum of
5% of Bid Amount Dollars (§5% of Bid Amount) in lawful money

of the United States, for the payment of which sum will and truly to be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, execttors,

administrators and successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents,

WHEREAS, the Principal is about to submit, or has submitted, to the City of St. Marys, Georgia, a proposal for
furnishing materials, labor and equipment for: RENOVATION & MODIFICATION FOR ST. MARYS CITY

HALL.

WHEREAS, the Principal desires to file this Bond in accordance with law in lieu of a certified Bidder's check
otherwise required to accompany this Proposal.

NOW, THEREFORE, the conditions of this ohligation are such that if the bid be accepted, the Principal shall within
ten days after receipt of notification of the acceptance, execute a Contract in accordance with the Proposal and upon
the terms, conditions, and prices set forth in the form and manner required by the City of St. Marys, Georgia, and
execute a sufficient and satisfactory Performance Bond and Payment Bond payable to the City of St. Marys, Georgia,
each in an amount of 100% of the amount hereof in good and lawful money of the United States of America, not as a
penalty, but as liquidated damages.

PROVIDED, FURTHER, that Principal and Surety agree and represent that this bond is executed pursuant to and in
accordance with the applicable provisions of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated, as Amended, including, but not
limited to, O.C.G.A. S8 36-91-1, gt. seq. , and is intended to be and shall be constructed as a bond in compliance with

the requirements thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the said Principal has hereunder affixed its signature and seal, and said Surety has hereunto
caused to be affixed its corporate signature and seal, by its dully authorized officers, on

Signed, scaled, and dated this __27th day of ___ Mav A.D., 2025 .




Renovation & Modification St. Marys Citv Hall

00150-3 of 3
Bid Bond
CONTRACTOR - PRINCIPAL:  JOC Construction LLC 7! /
By: M
rna’fw signed)

[f]&ﬁ_‘ﬂ ﬁ; ) A‘ s and
‘name printed or typed)

Title: —Fkg_s \DEAIT

Address: 3050 Shallowford Road

Chamblee, GA 3034 —)

gy,
Ammﬁi@\ o ",

fname signed)

Bersy Bagg

fname printed or

Title: (Cn&€F oF STEE

’//," GEO G\P‘ \\\\
g™

Note: Attest for a corporation must be by the corporate secretary; for a partnership by another partner; for an
individual by a notary.

SURETY: —FCCl Insurance Company

By T C2—=g

{name signed)

Terri C Frankli

{rame printed or typed)
Title: Attornev-In-Fact

Address:

62368 Ajrpark Dr

Chattanooza. TN 37421

Attest: Flhavat (i

{name signed}

Flarence Erickson

{name printed or typed) i ===
of First [ ion

Title: Di

" (SEAL)

Note: Surety companies executing Bonds must appear on the Treasury Department's most current list Cm:n!ar
570 as amended) and be authorized to transact business in the state where the Project is located.



FCCIW

GENERAL POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all men by these presents: That the FCCI Insurance Company, a Corporation organized and existing under
the laws of the State of Florida (the "Corporation”) does make, constitute and appoint:

David H. Allen; Frank P. Powell; Jason Sullivan; Lisa Potter; Patty Snyder;

Terri Celeste Frankiin; Yodi Suggs
Each, its true and lawiul Attorney-In-Fact, to make, execute, seal and deliver, for and on its behalf as surety, and
as its act and deed in all bonds and underiakings provided that no bond or undertaking or contract of suretyship
executed under this authority shall exceed the sum of {not to exceed $36,000,000.00): $30,000,300.00

This Power of Attorney is made and executed by authority of a Resolution adopted by the Board of Directors. That
resolution also authorized any further action by the officers of the Company necessary fo effect such transaction.

The signatures below and the seai of the Corporation may be affixed by facsimile, and any such facsimile
signatures or facsimile seal shall be binding upon the Corporation when so affixed and in the future with regard to any
bond, undertaking or contract of surety to which it is attached.

In witness whereof, the FCCI Insurance Company has caused these presents to be signed by its duly authorized
officers and Its corporate Seal to be hereunto affixed, this 23rd  dayof July , 2020.

Aftest: CMJ Pg- lye/};i—-

Chiistina D. Welch, President
FCCI Insurance Company

Christopher Shoucalr,
EVP, CFO, Treasurer, Secretary
FCC! Insurance Company

State of Florida
County of Sarasola

Before me this day personally appeared Christina D. Welch, who is personally known to me and who executed
the foregoing document for the purposes expressed therein.

My commission expires: 2/27/2027 5%,  pecovsion Cleggon Snerd
-@- Constuond o4 228535 Notary Public
Vot Expines Fbroay 27,2027

State of Florida

County of Sarasota

Before me this day personally appeared Christopher Shoucair, who is personally known to me and who executed
the faregoing document for the purposes expressed therein.

My commission expires: 2/27/2027 .ﬂ%. o eSS @“B%“a%"“a
DO EghuFbruay 27,2027 Notary Public

CERTIFICATE

1, the undersigned Secretary of FCCI lasurance Company, & Florida Coarporation, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the
foregaing Power of Attorney remains in full force and has not been revoked; and furthermore that the February 27, 2020
Resolution of the Board of Directors, referenced in said Power of Attorney, is now in force,

Dated this 27th day of May , 2025

Christopher Shoucair, EVP, CFO, Treasurer, Secretary
FCCl Insurance Company

1-10MA-3592-NA-O4, 772021



Current Projects

South Cobb Readiness Center- $11.5M Scheduled End Date 05.28.25

Consists of a complete renovation of 38,000sf existing building, selective interior demolition, interior
upgrades of 38 spaces and large assembly hall area, re-designed of men’s and women'’s lalrines,
lactation area, complete MEP upgrades, new curb and asphait of two existing pariing lots and adding
underground detention within a new parking lot space. Exterior finishes include painting, EFIS
upgrades, metal canopy and dock upgrades, entrance monument, building signage, utilities and
landscaping.

Hartwell SOAR - $4.5M — Scheduled End Date May 2025

Full renovation of existing structure Army National Guard Facilities including latrines, offices,
drifl hall, new utilities, exterior site improvements, paving, parking and utilities. Additionally, the
construction of a ground up multipurpose building.

Champney Boat Ramp - $1.9M - Scheduled End Date August 2025

Boat ramp renovation includes existing wooden board walk replacement, floating docks and
gangways. Demolish and replace existing two-lane boat ramp and associated bank stabilization
with four-lane concrete boat ramp with new sidewalks, curb and gutter, parking area and landscape.

Fort Yargo Site Renewal - $11M- Projected end date April 2025

Demolition of day use areas, existing utilities, storm water system, sanitary sewer, asphalt, curb &
gutter, sidewalks, beach head. Full renovation of 4-acre site lo include new ground up restrooms,
sport utility areas including mini-golf, pickle ball courts, boat house, visitors center, parking lot, all
new utilities, storm water system, beach expansion, refail center, onsite office, landscaping, ADA
boardwalk ramps and picnic paths, pre-fab restrooms, vehicle charging station, boat launch, sewer
Iift station, group shelters, picnic areas, nature trails, new pavilions .

Past Projects
Valdosta SOAR - $3.8M — Completed April 2024

Full renovation of existing structure Army National Guard Facilities including latrines, offices, drill hall,
new utilities, exterior site improvements, paving, parking and utilities. Additionally, the construction of a
ground up multipurpose building.

Calhoun SOAR -$4.85M - Completed October 2022

Full renovation of existing structure Army National Guard Facilities including latrines, offices, drill hall,
new utilities, exterior site improvements; paving, parking and utifities. Additionally, the construction of a
ground up multipurpose building.

Atlanta Detention Center Roof Project - $3.08M Completed June 2023

Identified 18 sections of 8-10 stories in height of full tear off and new TPO roofing. Coardination of low
voltage, electrical, hvac systems in a high secure location requiring full time escort from materials to
personnel. Project included crane work coordination and roadway shut down with Atlanta Police
Department to maintain public safety. Included submitting and updating traffic safety

plans weekly.




Q .l 0 cmsmuemu.

City Of St Marys
418 Osborne Street
St Marys, GA 31558

May 28, 2025

Subject: Acknowledgment of Addendum to Bid

To Whom It May Corl_gg?h,

We hereby ackno,yfgi‘é&ge receipt of Addendum No. 1 dated March 31, 2005, Addendum No. 2 dated
April 10, 2025, ai‘{d Addendum No. 3 dated May 20, 2025 pertaining to the bid for the Renovation &
Modification for St Marys City Hall project.

We have revjéﬁved the contents of the addendum and understand the revisions and clariﬁcations
provided. This acknowledgment confirms that all instructions and modifications outlined in the
addendum will be incorporated into our bid submission.

Should any further addenda be issued, pleaséufﬁmard ‘them to the undersigned at your earliest
convenience.

Thank you fof your continued communication.

Sincerely,

Chief Of Staff
JOC Construction LLC

1954 Airport Road e Suite 100 » Chamblee, GA 30341 » www.JOC-Construction.com



CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 16, 2025

TITLE: Authorization to Submit Federal Grant Applications for Police and Fire
Department Staffing Needs
(COPS Hiring Program and SAFER Grant)

PURPOSE: To seek City Council approval for the submission of two federal public
safety personnel grants:

COPS Hinng Program (CHP) — to fund two additional sworn police officer positions
focused on community-oriented policing strategies.

SAFER Grant (Staffing for Adequate Fire and Emergency Response) — to support hiring
or retention of firefighters to improve response capability and staffing compliance with
national standards.

RECOMMENDATION: Authorize approval for the submission to the SAFER and CHP
grants.

HISTORY: The City of St. Marys has maintained a commitment to strengthening public
safety services in line with community growth and national standards.

The COPS Hiring Program is a competitive grant administered by the U.S. Department of
Justice, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services. It provides funding for up to
75% of entry-level salaries and benefits for newly hired or rehired officers over a 3-year
period, with 2 minimum 25% local match and a 12-month retention requirement.

The SAFER Grant, administered by the Federal Emergency Management Agency
(FEMA), supports fire departments in increasing staffing levels to achieve 24/7 response
capabilities and meet NFPA 1710/1720 staffing standards. The program offers 100%
funding for eligible salaries and benefits over a 3-year performance period with no local
match required.

The COSM was previously awarded SAFER funds in 2009. A previous application to the
COPS Hiring Program by the City was not granted. Current staffing levels, response
demands, and growth trends now support strong eligibility and justification for these
funding opportunities.

Department

Director: W Og M

City

Manager:




CITY COUNCIL MEETING
June 16, 2025

TITLE: RIVER WALK P1ZZERIA, LLC NEW ALCOHOL LICENSE

PURPOSE: Council consideration to approve a new 2025 Beer, Wine & Liquor License
on premise consumption with food.

RECOMMENDATION: City Clerk recommends approval.

HISTORY: The Public Hearing was duly posted in the Tribune & Georgian and held
prior to this evening’s Council meeting. Mr. Issa Awad of River Walk Pizzeria, LLC
located at 200 Osborne Street, St. Marys, Georgia 31558 request license as restaurant.
Mr. Awad currently holds Alcohol Licenses for St. Marys Magic Market (Beer & Wine),
Locals Dockside Restaurant (Beer, Wine & Liquor) and Southern River Walk Restaurant
(Beer, Wine & Liquor).

) , p
Department / g? // [ w14 /é[/
Director: J(j\_ 0 V/’ ﬂ/d ( L’hfh//j 1~
B L A
Manager: Z 7 /




CITY OF ST. MARYS
418 OSBORNE STREET
ST. MARYS, GEORGIA 31558
TELEPHONE: 912-510-4039
FAX: 912-510-4013

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
ALCOHOL BEVERAGE LICENSE

The City of St. Marys, Georgia received an application for an Alcohol Beverage License
from Mr. Issa Awad of River Walk Pizzeria, LL.C 200 Osborne Street, St. Marys,
Georgia for the sale of Beer, Wine and Liquor on premise consumption with food.

Notice is hereby given that a Public Hearing on this application is scheduled for Monday,
June 16, 2025 at 5:45 p.m. in Council Chambers at City Hall. Anyone desiring to address
Council regarding the issuance of a license to this establishment may do so at the Public
Hearing.

Deborah Walker-Reed.
Deborah Walker-Reed, City Clerk

PLEASE RUN: June 5" & June 12%, 2025



T OW _ALCOHOL BEVE] SU
A PORTION OF BLOCK 25, CITY OF ST. MARYS,
29th G.M.D., CAMDEN COUNTY, GEORGIA
FOR: RIVERWAILK PIZZERIA, LLC
SUBJECT PROPERTY ADDRESS
200 OSBORNE ROAD
ST. MARYS, GA. 31558
mwicx 550 "BLOCK 898" '8 OCK 89A" "BLOCK 28" "BLOCKY" _
‘ '] B [
CONYERS STREET
=
[_‘
= = =
E ORANGE
& HALL w [ I
"BLOCK 42" & "BLOCK 43" . “g ——"BLOCK 3™~ @ "BLOCK 27" © [ 'BLOCKS'
o ST, NARYS| & — 1 "NA i
5 BAPTIST | & . —
g CHURCH | & N 2
as | \‘
/ ————
/ Ry - '~ WEED STREET
A LTS
%% : \
[ Fi 4 Y \
/ AN 0,39 \ \1
7
—"BLOCK 23" — I "BLOCK 24" w "BLOCK 251 "BLOCK 26" "BLOCK 7"
I I I 3 // l{' Il
\ L \ 'f*‘? L / I,
\ e /
\ 353' /I/ | ”
OLD CATHOLIC
CHURCH S~ _ -7 SRIANGSTEEET
N\ T —L /
"BLOCK 2" \"BLOCK 3" "BLOCK 4" 7 "BLOCKS’ "BLOCK 6"
A | *
| i— 7/
M | e
[L - J
ST. MARYS STREET ,__,N
ST. MARYS RIVER
NOTES:
1.) THIS SURVEY WAS PREPARED PURSUANT TO THE ST. MARY'S ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES
ORDINANCE, CHAPTER 10, SECTION 10-116, LAST AMENDED 6—6-2022. THERE ARE NO
ESTABLISHMENTS OF CONCERN LYING WITHIN THE MINIMUM DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS. o 1500 300
2.) THERE ARE RESIDENTIAL DWELLINGS AND ONE OLD CHURCH BUILDING BUT NO APPARENT
ALCOHOL TREATMENT CENTERS OR HOUSING AUTHORITY PROPERTIES WITHIN THE CITY OF ST, TR,
MARYS DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS AT THIS TIME, AS INDICATED BY VISUAL INSPECTION. —
3,) SUBJECT PROPERTY IS CURRENTLY ZONED: C~1 (CENTRAL BUSINESS). DWN. BY: M.C CKD. BY: JSF.
‘ SKETCH DATE: _05-27-2025
PREPARED BY: IHEREBY CERTIFY JHAT THE ABOVE MEASUREMENTS WERE
N TAKEN UNDERJFRRECTSURCRVISON AND THAT SAID MEASUREMENTS
A I< M ARE TRUE ANDAb0UR BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE AND
BELIEF.
. %
/4 &SURVEYING, INC. /
SURVEYORS & LAND PLANNERS i ’
1N /. DATE: 05/27/2025
109 MACDONELL STREET (912) 729-1507 PHONE \!’ 4 \w!}‘\)’.p"
‘)ﬂ ST. MARYS, GEORGIA 31558 (912) 729-1509 FAX @?ﬂ.:g/
GEORGIA LICENSED SURVEY FIRM No. 1067 - REGIGIERED SURVEYOR No. 3143

\\VPN-SERVER\Drafting\CAD & PDF FILES\Lot Surveys\St.Marys Blocks\Block 25\Tax Parcel 541 05 002 & 003\Alcohol Beverage Survey - TP $41 05 002.ch



	Agenda
	Draft Minutes 
	Presentation
	Proclamation Juneteenth
	Old Business
	A. Rezoning Request 118 Second Street-David Lee McNabb
	New Business
	A. Adoption of FY2026 Budget
	B. Oak Grove Cemetery Ordinance Amendment
	C. Oak Grove Cemetery Cremation Park Fees
	D. MOU Camden County Employee Onsite Health Clinic
	E. Esplanade Blvd Construction Project Contract-Vallencourt Construction Company
	F. New City Hall Renovation Bid Rejection Request
	G. Federal Grant Funding Applications Additional Personnel Fire & Police-SAFER Grant & CHP 
	H. River Walk Pizzeria New Alcohol License

